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ndependent Auditor's Report

To the Members of Duet India Hotels (Pune) Private Limited

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

We have audited the financial statements of Duet India Hotels (Pune) Private Limited (the “Company”)
which comprise the balance sheet as at 31 March 2024, and the statement of profit and loss (including
other comprehensive income), statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including material accounting policies and other
explanatory information, in which are included the separate financial information of restaurant business
acquired from Duet India Hotels (Bangalore) Private Limited (hereinafter referred to as "component”) for
the period beginning from 10 August 2023 to 13 March 2024 (hereinafter together referred to as financial
statements).

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, and based
on the consideration of reporting of the other auditor on separate financial information of component for
the period from 10 August 2023 to 13 March 2024 as were audited by the other auditor, the aforesaid
financial statements give the information required by the Companies Act, 2013 ("Act”) in the manner so
required and give a true and fair view in conformity with the accounting principles generally accepted in
india, of the state of affairs of the Company as at 31 March 2024, and its profit and other comprehensive
income, changes in equity and its cash flows for the year ended on that date.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with the Standards on Auditing (SAs) specified under
Section 143(10) of the Act. Our responsibilities under those SAs are further described in the Auditor's
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the
Company in accordance with the Code of Ethics issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India
together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements under the
provisions of the Act and the Rules thereunder, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with these requirements and the Code of Ethics. We believe that the audit evidence obtained
by us along with the consideration of reports of the other auditor referred to in paragraph (b) of the "Other
Matters"section below, is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion on the financial
statements.

Management's and Board of Directors' Responsibilities for the Financial Statements

The Company's Management and Board of Directors are responsible for the matters stated in Section
134(5) of the Act with respect to the preparation of these financial statements that give a true and fair view
of the state of affairs, profit/ loss and other comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows of
the Company in accordance with the accounting principles generally accepted in India, including the
Indian Accounting Standards (Ind AS) specified under Section 133 of the Act. This responsibility also
includes maintenance of adequate accounting records in accordance with the provisions of the Act for
safeguarding of the assets of the Company and for preventing and detecting frauds and other
irregularities; selection and application of appropriate accounting policies; making judgments and
estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and design, implementation and maintenance of adequate
internal financial controls, that were operating effectively for ensuring the accuracy and completeness of
the accounting records, relevant to the preparation and presentation of the financial statements that give
a true and fair view and are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Management and Board of Directors are responsible for
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

Duet India Hotels (Pune) Private Limited

assessing the Company'’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related
to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Board of Directors either
intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Board of Directors is also responsible for overseeing the Company's financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with SAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

+ Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

»  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances. Under Section 143(3)(i) of the Act, we are also responsible
for expressing our opinion on whether the company has adequate internal financial controls with
reference to financial statements in place and the operating effectiveness of such controls.

« Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disciosures made by the Management and Board of Directors.

»  Conclude on the appropriateness of the Management and Board of Directors use of the going concern
basis of accounting in preparation of financial statements and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Company's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.

s Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

»  Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the separate financial statements of of the
Component of the Company to express an opinion on the financial statements. For the Component
included in the financial statements, which has been audited by other auditor, such other auditor
remain responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the audit carried out by them.
We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. Our responsibilities in this regard are further
described in paragraph (b) of the section titled "Other Matters” in this audit report.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

Duet India Hotels (Pune) Private Limited

safeguards.

Other Matters

a. The financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 March 2023 were audited by the
predecessor auditor who had expressed an unmodified opinion on 17 August 2023.

b. We did not audit the separate financial information statements of the component included in the
financial statements of the Company whose financial statements reflect total assets (before
consolidation adjustments) of Rs. Nil millions as at 13 March 2024, total revenue (before consolidation
adjustments) of Rs. 6.02 millions and net cash flows (before consolidation adjustments) amounting to
Rs. 0.32 millions for the period beginning from 10 August 2023 to 13 March 2024, as considered in
the financial statements. The separate financial information statements of the component have been
audited by the another auditor whose report has been furnished to us by the management and our
opinion, in so far as it relates to the amounts and disclosures included in respect of our report in terms
of sub-sections (3) and (11) of Section 143 of the Act, in so far as it relates to the component and our
report in terms of sub-section (3) and (11) of Section 143 of the Act, in so far as it relates to the
aforesaid component is based solely on the reports of such other auditor.

Our opinion on the financial statements, and our report on the Other Legal and Regulatory
Requirements below, is not modified in respect of this matter with respect to our reliance on the work
done and the reports of the other auditor.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

1. As required by the Companies (Auditor's Report) Order, 2020 (“the Order”) issued by the Central
Government of India in terms of Section 143(11) of the Act, based on our audit and on the
consideration of report of the other auditor on separate financial statements of the component, as
noted in the ‘Other Matters’ paragraph, we give in the “Annexure A’ a statement on the matters
specified in paragraphs 3 and 4 of the Order, to the extent applicable.

2 A. As required by Section 143(3) of the Act, based on our audit and on the consideration of report of the
other auditor on separate financial statements of the component, as noted in the ‘Other Matters’
paragraph, we report, to the extent applicable, that:

a. We have sought and obtained all the information and explanations which to the best of our
knowledge and belief were necessary for the purposes of our audit of the aforesaid financial
statements.

b. In our opinion, proper books of account as required by law have been kept by the Company so
far as it appears from our examination of those books except for the following:

(i) the back-up of books of accounts and other relevant books and papers in electronic mode was
not maintained on the servers physically located in India with respect to accounting software used
for:

«  revenue accounting during 1 April 2023 to 15 July 2023,
- procurement and general ledger during 1 April 2023 to 26 March 2024 and
« general ledger accounting during 1 April 2023 to 23 August 2023

revenue process during 1 April 2023 to 31 March 2024.

(i) In the absence of sufficient and appropriate reporting on compliance with the back up
requirements in the independent auditor's report of service organisation in relation to payroll
process operated by third party service provider, we are unable to comment on whether the back-
up of books of accounts and other relevant books and papers in electronic mode relevant to the
said process was maintained on the servers physically located in India for the period 1 December
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
Duet India Hotels (Pune) Private Limited

2023 to 31 March 2024.

(iii) matters stated in the paragraph (B)(f) below on reporting under Rule 11(g) of the Companies

(Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014.

The balance sheet, the statement of profit and loss (including other comprehensive income), the
statement of changes in equity and the statement of cash flows dealt with by this Report are in
agreement with the books of account.

In our opinion, the aforesaid financial statements comply with the Ind AS specified under Section
133 of the Act.

On the basis of the written representations received from the directors as on 01 April 2024 taken
on record by the Board of Directors, none of the directors is disqualified as on 31 March 2024
from being appointed as a director in terms of Section 164(2) of the Act.

the qualification relating to the maintenance of accounts and other matters connected therewith
are as stated in the paragraph b above on reporting under Section 143(3)(b) and paragraph 2B(f)
below on reporting under Rule 11(g) of the Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014.

With respect to the adequacy of the internal financial controls with reference to financial
statements of the Company and the operating effectiveness of such controls, refer to our separate
Report in “Annexure B".

With respect to the other matters to be included in the Auditor's Report in accordance with Rule 11 of

the Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014, in our opinion and to the best of our information and
according to the explanations given to us and based on the consideration of the reports of the
component auditor on separate financials statements of restaurant business, as noted in “Other
Matters” paragraph:

a.

The Company has disclosed the impact of pending litigations as at 31 March 2024 on its financial
position in its financial statements - Refer Note 26A(b) to the financial statements.

The Company did not have any long-term contracts including derivative contracts for which there
were any material foreseeable losses.

There were no amounts which were required to be transferred to the Investor Education and
Protection Fund by the Company.

d (iii) The management has represented that, to the best of its knowledge and belief, as disclosed in

(i)

the Note 35(vi) to the financial statements, no funds have been advanced or loaned or invested
(either from borrowed funds or share premium or any other sources or kind of funds) by the
Company to or in any other person(s) or entity(ies), including foreign entities (“Intermediaries”),
with the understanding, whether recorded in writing or otherwise, that the Intermediary shall
directly or indirectly lend or invest in other persons or entities identified in any manner whatsoever
by or on behalf of the Company (“Ultimate Beneficiaries”) or provide any guarantee, security or
the like on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries.

The management has represented that, to the best of its knowledge and belief, as disclosed in
the Note 35(vii) to the financial statements, no funds have been received by the Company from
any person(s) or entity(ies), including foreign entities ("Funding Parties”), with the understanding,
whether recorded in writing or otherwise, that the Company shall directly or indirectly, lend or
invest in other persons or entities identified in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the
Funding Parties ("Ultimate Beneficiaries”) or provide any guarantee, security or the like on behalf
of the Ultimate Beneficiaries.

(iii) Based on the audit procedures that have been considered reasonable and appropriate in the

circumstances by us and that performed by the auditor of the component whose financial
statements have been audited under the Act, nothing has come to our or other auditor notice that
has caused us or the other auditor to believe that the representations under sub-clause (i) and
(i) of Rule 11(e), as provided under (i) and (ii) above, contain any material misstatement.
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Independent Auditor’'s Report (Continued)
Duet India Hotels (Pune) Private Limited

e. The Company has neither declared nor paid any dividend during the year.

f. Based on our examination which included test checks, and based on the consideration of the
report of the other auditor on separate financial statements of the component, except for the
instances mentioned below, the Company and its component has used accounting softwares for
maintaining its books of accounts, which has a feature of recording audit trail (edit log) facility and
the same has operated throughout the period for all relevant transactions recorded in the
respective softwares:

«  In case of one of the accounting software used for maintaining the books of account relating
to revenue process of the Company, due to system limitation to validate configuration of the
feature of recording audit trail (edit log) facility of the said software, we are unable to comment
on whether the audit trail (edit log) facility of the said software was enabled and whether it
operated throughout the year for all relevant transactions recorded in the software.

- In the absence of sufficient and appropriate reporting on compliance with the audit trail
requirement in the independent auditor's report of service organisation from 1 December
2023 to 31 December 2023 and in the absence of independent auditor’s report in relation to
controls at the said service organization from 1 January 2024 to 31 March 2024 for an
accounting software used for maintaining the books of account relating to payroll process of
the Company, which is operated by third-party software service provider, we are unable to
comment whether audit trail feature for the said software was enabled and operated
throughout the year for all relevant transactions recorded in the software.

«  The feature of recording audit trail (edit log) facility was not enabled at the database level to
log any direct data changes for one of the accounting software used for maintaining the books
of account relating to revenue, procurement and general ledger accounting of the Company.

»  In case of component, the feature of recording audit trail (edit log) faciity was not enabled in
the accounting software for the period from 1 April 2023 to 6 February 2024.

Further, for the periods where audit trail (edit log) facility was enabled and operated for the
respective accounting softwares, we did not come across any instance of the audit trail feature
being tampered with except that in case of one of the accounting software used by the Company
for maintaining general ledger for the period 1 April 2023 to 6 February 2024, due to limitations
in the system configuration, we are unable to comment whether there were any instances of the
audit trail feature being tampered with.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
Duet India Hotels (Pune) Private Limited

C. With respect to the matter to be included in the Auditor’'s Report under Section 197(16) of the Act:

In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us and based on the
consideration of other auditor on separate financial statements of the Component, the Company and
its component has not paid any remuneration to its directors during the year. The Ministry of Corporate
Affairs has not prescribed other details under Section 197(16) of the Act which are required to be
commented upon by us.

ForBSR & Co. LLP
Chartered Accountants
Firm’s Registration No.:101248W/W-100022

pbuh diad

Ankush Goel

Partner

Place: Gurugram Membership No.: 505121
Date: 29 May 2024 ICAI UDIN:24505121BKGXDM5574
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Annexure A to the Independent Auditor’s Report on the Financial Statements
of Duet India Hotels (Pune) Private Limited for the year ended 31 March 2024

(Referred to in paragraph 1 under ‘Report on Other Legal and Regulatory
Requirements’ section of our report of even date)

(i) (a) (A) The Company has maintained proper records showing full particulars, including quantitative

details and situation of Property, Plant and Equipment.

(B) The Company has maintained proper records showing full particulars of intangible assets.

(i) (b)

(ii) (a)

(b)

(iii)

(a)

According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination
of the records of the Company, the Company has a regular programme of physical verification
of its Property, Plant and Equipment by which all property, plant and equipment are verified once
in a three years. In accordance with this programme, all property, plant and equipment were
verified during the year. In our opinion, this periodicity of physical verification is reasonable
having regard to the size of the Company and the nature of its assets. No material discrepancies
were noticed on such verification.

According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination
of the records of the Company, the title deeds of immovabie properties disclosed in the financial
statements are held in the name of the Company. However, original title deeds are under lien
with banks for the loan facilities availed by the Company. Therefore we could not verify those
titlte deeds. However, we have received independent confirmation from security trustee.

According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination
of the records of the Company, the Company has not revalued its Property, Plant and Equipment
or intangible assets or both during the year.

According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination
of the records of the Company, there are no proceedings initiated or pending against the
Company for holding any benami property under the Prohibition of Benami Property
Transactions Act, 1988 and rules made thereunder.

The inventory has been physically verified by the management during the year. In our opinion,
the frequency of such verification is reasonable and procedures and coverage as followed by
management were appropriate. No discrepancies were noticed on verification between the
physical stocks and the book records that were more than 10% in the aggregate of each class
of inventory.

According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination
of the records of the Company, the Company has not been sanctioned any working capital limits
in excess of five crore rupees in aggregate from banks and financial institutions on the basis of
security of current assets at any point of time of the year. Accordingly, clause 3(ii)(b) of the Order
is not applicable to the Company.

According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination
of the records of the Company, the Company has not made any investments or provided any
guarantee to companies, firms, limited liability partnership or any other parties during the year.
The Company has granted loans and provided security to Companies during the year, in respect
of which the requisite information is as below. The Company has not granted any loans and
provided security to firms, limited liability partnership or any other parties. Further, the Company
has not provided any advance in the nature of loans.

Based on the audit procedures carried on by us and as per the information and explanations
given to us the Company has granted loans, or provided security to any other entities as below:

Jo
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Annexure A to the Independent Auditor’s Report on the Financial Statements
of Duet India Hotels (Pune) Private Limited for the year ended 31 March 2024
(Continued)

(b)

Particulars Security Loans
(in INR millions) (in INR
millions)

Aggregate amount during the year

Subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries* 250.00 42.50
Others - 58.55
Balance outstanding as at balance sheet date

Subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries* 250.00 377.65
Others - -

*As per the Companies Act, 2013

Further, the Company has not mande investments, or provided guarantee or advance in the
nature of loan to any party during the year.

Based on the audit procedures carried on by us and as per the information and explanations
given to us the Company has not made investment, or provided security to any other entities
during the year. According to the information and explanations given to us and based on
the audit procedures conducted by us, in our opinion the terms and conditions of the grant
of loans provided or security given during the year are, prima facie, not prejudicial to the
interest of the Company. Further, the Company has not grant any advance in the nature of
loan to any party during the year.

According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination
of the records of the Company, in the case of loans given, in our opinion the repayment of
principal and payment of interest has been stipulated and the repayments or receipts have been
regular except for the following loans which are repayable on demand and the same are overdue
for repayment and hence, the repayment is not regular:

Name of the entity Amount* Remarks
(in INR millions)
Sare Saamag Reality Private 0.50 The loan are repayable on
Limited demand
DIH Project Management 33.45 The loan are repayable on
Private Limited demand
Duet India Hotels Private 222.20 The loan are repayable on
Limited demand
Duet India Financial Services 30.00 The loan are repayable on
Private Limited demand

*Gross of provision for doubtful loans.

Further, in case of interest free loans where there is no stipulation of schedule of repayment of
principal, we are unable to comment on the regularity of repayment of principal, as these are
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Annexure A to the Independent Auditor's Report on the Financial Statements
of Duet India Hotels (Pune) Private Limited for the year ended 31 March 2024
(Continued)

(d)

repayable at the option of the borrower.

Name of the entity Amount Remarks
(in INR millions)

Duet India Hotels 1.85 These loans are rapayable
(Hyderabad) Private Limited at the option of the borrower.
Duet India Hotels (Chennai) 60.56

Private Limited

Duet India Hotels 219.84
(Ahmedabad) Private Limited

Duet India Hotels (Chennai 63.89
OMR) Private Limited

Duet India Hotels (Jaipur) 24.01
Private Limited

Further, the Company has not given any advance in the nature of loan to any party during the
year.

According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination
of the records of the Company, there is no overdue amount for more than ninety days in respect
of loans given except an amount of INR 286.15 millions {principal amount) and INR Nil (interest)
overdue for more than ninety days as at 31 March 2024. In our opinion, reasonable steps have
not been taken by the Company for recovery of the principal and interest.

Further, According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our
examination of the records of the Company, in case of interest free loans granted, amounting to
Rs. 370.15 millions (balance as at 31 March 2024) to various companies (details provided
below), the schedule for repayment of principal have not been been stipulated, as these are
repayable at the option of the borrower and accordingly we are unable to comment on the
amount overdue for more than ninety days:

Name of the entity Amount Remarks, if any
(in INR millions)

Duet India Hotels 1.85 There is no stipulation of

(Hyderabad) Private Limited schedule of repayment of
principal

Duet India Hotels (Chennai) 60.56

Private Limited

Duet India Hotels 219.84
(Ahmedabad) Private Limited

Duet India Hotels (Chennai 63.89
OMR) Private Limited

Duet India Hotels (Jaipur) 24.01
Private Limited

Further, the Company has not given any advances in the nature of loans to any party during the
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Annexure A to the Independent Auditor’s Report on the Financial Statements
of Duet India Hotels (Pune) Private Limited for the year ended 31 March 2024
(Continued)

(e)

)

year.

According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination
of the records of the Company, in our opinion following instances of loans falling due during the
year were renewed or extended or settled by fresh loans:

Name of the parties

Aggregate amount

Aggregate overdue

Percentage of the

of loans granted amount settled by aggregate to the

during the year renewal or total loans granted

(in INR millions) extension or by during the year

fresh loans
granted to same
parties
(in INR millions)

Duet India Hotels 28.85 6.85 4.09%
(Hyderabad) Private
Limited
Duet India Hotels 62.56 60.56 8.88%
(Chennai)  Private
Limited
Duet India Hotels 219.84 215.84 31.20%
(Ahmedabad)
Private Limited
Duet India Hotels 63.89 61.39 9.07%
(Chennai OMR)
Private Limited
Duet India Hotels 27.51 24.01 3.90%
(Jaipur) Private
Limited

Further, the Company has not given any advance in the nature of loan to any party during the

year.

According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination
of the records of the Company, in our opinion the Company has not granted any loans or
advances in the nature of loans either repayable on demand or without specifying any terms or
period of repayment except for the following loans to its related parties as defined in Clause (76)
of Section 2 of the Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”)..

All Parties
(INR in millions)

Related Parties
(INR in millions)

Aggregate of loans

any terms or

- Agreement does not specify
period of

370.14

370.14

ke
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Annexure A to the Independent Auditor’s Report on the Financial Statements
of Duet India Hotels (Pune) Private Limited for the year ended 31 March 2024

(Continued)
All Parties Related Parties
(INR in millions) (INR in millions)
Repayment
Total 370.14 370.14
Percentage of loans to the 49.10% 49.10%
total loans (gross)

(iv)

v)

(vi)

(vii) (a)

According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination
of the records of the Company, the Company has not provided any guarantee as specified under
Section 185 of the Companies Act, 2013 ("the Act"). In respect of loans given and security
provided by the Company, the provisions of Section 185 of the Act have been complied with.
The Company has complied with Section 186(1) of the Act. According to the information and
explanations given to us, the provisions of Section 186 (except for sub-section (1) of the Section
186) of the Companies Act, 2013 are not applicable to the Company since the Company is
engaged in the business of providing infrastructural facilities.

The Company has not accepted any deposits or amounts which are deemed to be deposits from
the public. Accordingly, clause 3(v) of the Order is not applicable.

According to the information and explanations given to us, the Central Government has not
prescribed the maintenance of cost records under Section 148(1) of the Act for the services
rendered by the Company. Accordingly, clause 3(vi) of the Order is not applicable.

The Company does not have liability in respect of Service tax, Duty of excise, Sales tax and
Value added tax during the year since effective 1 July 2017, these statutory dues has been
subsumed into GST.

According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination
of the records of the Company, in our opinion amounts deducted / accrued in the books of
account in respect of undisputed statutory dues including Goods and Service Tax, Employees
State Insurance, Duty of Customs or Cess or other statutory dues have generally been regularly
deposited with the appropriate authorities, though there have been slight delays in a few cases
of deposit of Income-Tax, Provident fund and Value Added Tax.

According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination
of the records of the Company, no undisputed amounts payable in respect of Goods and Service
Tax, Provident Fund, Employees State Insurance, Income-Tax, Duty of Customs or Cess or
other statutory dues were in arrears as at 31 March 2024 for a period of more than six months
from the date they became payable.

According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination
of the records of the Company, statutory dues relating to Goods and Service Tax, Provident
Fund, Employees State Insurance, Income-Tax, Duty of Customs or Cess or other statutory
dues which have not been deposited on account of any dispute are as follows:

A
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Annexure A to the Independent Auditor’s Report on the Financial Statements
of Duet India Hotels (Pune) Private Limited for the year ended 31 March 2024
(Continued)

(viii)

(ix) (a)

(b)

(c)

(e)

(f)

(x) (a)

(b)

(xi) (a)

Name of the Nature of Amount Period to Forum Remarks
statute the dues (Rs.) which the where , if any
amount dispute is
relates pending
Income-Tax Income-Tax 2.00 AY 2015-16 CIT(A)
Act, 1961

According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination
of the records of the Company, the Company has not surrendered or disclosed any transactions,
previously unrecorded as income in the books of account, in the tax assessments under the
Income Tax Act, 1961 as income during the year.

According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination
of the records of the Company, the Company has not defaulted in repayment of loans and
borrowing or in the payment of interest thereon to any lender.

According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination
of the records of the Company, the Company has not been declared a wilful defaulter by any
bank or financial institution or government or government authority.

According to the information and explanations given to us by the management, the Company
has not obtained any term loans during the year. Accordingly, clause 3(ix)(c) of the Order is not
applicable.

According to the information and explanations given to us and on an overall examination of the
balance sheet of the Company, we report that no funds raised on short-term basis have been
used for long-term purposes by the Company.

According to the information and explanations given to us and on an overall examination of the
financial statements of the Company, we report that the Company has not taken any funds from
any entity or person on account of or to meet the obligations of its subsidiary as defined under
the Act.

Further, the Company does not hold any investment in any associate & joint ventures (as defined
under the Act) during the year ended 31 March 2024.

According to the information and explanations given to us and procedures performed by us, we
report that the Company has not raised loans during the year on the pledge of securities held in
its subsidiary (as defined under the Act).

Further, the Company does not hold any investment in any subsidiary (as defined under the Act)
during the year ended 31 March 2024.

The Company has not raised any moneys by way of initial public offer or further public offer
(including debt instruments). Accordingly, clause 3(x)(a) of the Order is not applicable.

According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination
of the records of the Company, the Company has not made any preferential allotment or private
placement of shares or fully or partly convertible debentures during the year. Accordingly, clause
3(x)(b) of the Order is not applicable.

Based on examination of the books and records of the Company and according to the
information and explanations given to us, no fraud by the Company or on the Company has
been noticed or reported during the course of the audit.

According to the information and explanations given to us, no report under sub-section (12) of
Section 143 of the Act has been filed by the auditors in Form ADT-4 as prescribed under Rule
13 of the Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014 with the Central Government.
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BSR&Co.LLP

Annexure A to the Independent Auditor’s Report on the Financial Statements
of Duet India Hotels (Pune) Private Limited for the year ended 31 March 2024
(Continued)

(c)

(xii)

(xiii)

(xiv) (a)

(b)

(xv)

(xvi) (a)

(b)

()

(d)

(xvii)

(xviii)

(xix)

()

As represented to us by the management, there are no whistle blower complaints received by
the Company during the year.

According to the information and explanations given to us, the Company is not a Nidhi Company.
Accordingly, clause 3(xii) of the Order is not applicable.

The Company is a wholly owned subsidiary of a listed Company and accordingly the
requirements as stipulated by the provisions of Section 177 of the Act are not applicable to the
Company. In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us and on
the basis of our examination of records of the Company, transactions with the related parties
are in compliance with Section 188 of the Act where applicable and details of such transactions
have been disclosed in the financial statements as required by the applicable accounting
standards.

In our opinion and based on the information and explanations provided to us, the Company does
not have an Internal Audit system and is not required to have an internal audit system as per
Section 138 of the Act.

In our opinion and based on the information and explanations provided to us, the Company does
not have an internal audit system and is not required to have an internal audit system as per
Section 138 of the Act. Accordingly, clause 3(xiv)(b) of the Order is not applicable.

In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, the Company has
not entered into any non-cash transactions with its directors or persons connected to its directors
and hence, provisions of Section 192 of the Act are not applicable to the Company.

The Company is not required to be registered under Section 45-IA of the Reserve Bank of India
Act, 1934. Accordingly, clause 3(xvi)(a) of the Order is not applicable.

The Company is not required to be registered under Section 45-1A of the Reserve Bank of India
Act, 1934. Accordingly, clause 3(xvi)(b) of the Order is not applicable.

The Company is not a Core Investment Company (CIC) as defined in the regulations made by
the Reserve Bank of India. Accordingly, clause 3(xvi)(c) of the Order is not applicable.

The Company is not part of any group (as per the provisions of the Core Investment Companies
(Reserve Bank) Directions, 2016 as amended). Accordingly, the requirements of clause
3(xvi)(d) are not applicable.

The Company has not incurred cash losses in the current and in the immediately preceding
financial year.

There has been no resignation of the statutory auditors during the year. Accordingly, clause
3(xviii) of the Order is not applicable.

According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of the financial ratios,
ageing and expected dates of realisation of financial assets and payment of financial liabilities,
other information accompanying the financial statements, our knowledge of the Board of
Directors and management plans and based on our examination of the evidence supporting the
assumptions, nothing has come to our attention, which causes us to believe that any material
uncertainty exists as on the date of the audit report that the Company is not capable of meeting
its liabilities existing at the date of balance sheet as and when they fall due within a period of
one year from the balance sheet date. We, however, state that this is not an assurance as to
the future viability of the Company. We further state that our reporting is based on the facts up
to the date of the audit report and we neither give any guarantee nor any assurance that all
liabilities falling due within a period of one year from the balance sheet date, will get discharged
by the Company as and when they fall due.

The requirements as stipulated by the provisions of Section 135 are not applicable to the
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BSR&Co.LLP

Annexure A to the Independent Auditor’s Report on the Financial Statements
of Duet India Hotels (Pune) Private Limited for the year ended 31 March 2024
(Continued)

Company. Accordingly, clauses 3(xx)(a) and 3(xx)(b) of the Order are not applicable.

ForBSR & Co.LLP
Chartered Accountants
Firm’s Registration No.:101248W/W-100022

Pk e

Ankush Goel

Partner

Place: Gurugram Membership No.: 505121
Date: 29 May 2024 ICAI UDIN:24505121BKGXDM5574

Page 14 of 17



BSR&Co.LLP

Annexure B to the Independent Auditor’s Report on the financial statements
of Duet India Hotels (Pune) Private Limited for the year ended 31 March 2024

Report on the internal financial controls with reference to the aforesaid financial
statements under Clause (i) of Sub-section 3 of Section 143 of the Act

(Referred to in paragraph 2(A)(g) under ‘Report on Other Legal and Regulatory
Requirements’ section of our report of even date)

Qualified Opinion

We have audited the internal financial controls with reference to financial statements of Duet India Hotels
(Pune) Private Limited (“the Company”) as of 31 March 2024 in conjunction with our audit of the financial
statements of the Company for the year ended on that date which include internal financial controls with
reference to financial statements of the restaurant business acquired by the Company (hereinafter
referred to as the ‘component’).

In our opinion and based on the consideration of the report of the component on internal financial controls
with reference to financial statements of the component as was audited by the other auditor, the Company
has maintained, in all material respects, adequate internal financial controls with reference to financial
statements as at 31 March 2024, based on the internal financial controls with reference to financial
statements criteria established by the Company considering the essential components of internal control
stated in the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting issued by
the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India (the “Guidance Note”) except for the possible effects of the
material weakness described in “Basis of Qualified Opinion” section of our report below, on the
achievement of the objectives of the control criteria, the Company's internal financial controls with
reference to financial statements were operating effectively as of 31 March 2024.

We have considered the material weakness identified and reported below in determining the nature, timing

and extent of audit tests applied in our audit of 31 March 2024 financial statements of the Company, and
the material weakness do not affect our opinion on the financial statement of the Company.

Basis for Qualified Opinion

According to the information and explanations given to us and based on our audit and on the consideration
of the report on internal financial controls with reference to financial statements of the component as was
audited by the other auditor, the following material weakness has been identified in the operating
effectiveness of the Company’s internal controls with reference to financial statements as at 31 March
2024,

The Company's internal financial controls with reference to financial statements in respect of General
Information Technology Control (GITCs) and automated Information Technology (IT) Application Controls
over the Company’s Opera Application Software used in one of the business of the Company (not being
the business acquired by the Company) were not operating effectively as at 31 March 2024. This could
potentially result in understatement/ overstatement of revenue from operations in the company’s financial
statements.

A ‘material weakness’ is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal financial control with
reference to financial statements, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement
of the Company's annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely
basis.

Management’s and Board of Directors’ Responsibilities for Internal Financial Controls

The Company’s Management and the Board of Directors are responsible for establishing and maintaining
internal financial controls based on the internal financial controls with reference to financial statements
criteria established by the Company considering the essential components of internal control stated in the

A’ﬁ Page 15 of 17
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BSR&Co.LLP

Annexure B to the Independent Auditor’s Report on the financial statements
of Duet India Hotels (Pune) Private Limited for the year ended 31 March 2024
(Continued)

Guidance Note. These responsibilities include the design, implementation and maintenance of adequate
internal financial controls that were operating effectively for ensuring the orderly and efficient conduct of
its business, including adherence to company’s policies, the safeguarding of its assets, the prevention
and detection of frauds and errors, the accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, and the
timely preparation of reliable financial information, as required under the Act.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal financial controls with reference to
financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with the Guidance Note
and the Standards on Auditing, prescribed under Section 143(10) of the Act, to the extent applicable to
an audit of internal financial controls with reference to financial statements. Those Standards and the
Guidance Note require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether adequate internal financial controls with reference to financial
statements were established and maintained and if such controls operated effectively in all material
respects.

Our audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the adequacy of the internal
financial controls with reference to financial statements and their operating effectiveness. Our audit of
internal financial controls with reference to financial statements included obtaining an understanding of
internal financial controls with reference to financial statements, assessing the risk that a material
weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control
based on the assessed risk. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgement, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained and the audit evidence obtained by the auditor of
the Component in terms of their report referred to in the “Other Matter” paragraph below, is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our qualified opinion on the Company’s internal financial controls with
reference to financial statements.

Meaning of Internal Financial Controls with Reference to Financial Statements

A company's internal financial controls with reference to financial statements is a process designed to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A
company's internal financial controls with reference to financial statements include those policies and
pracedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly
reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are
being made only in accordance with authorisations of management and directors of the company; and (3)
provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorised acquisition, use,
or disposition of the company's assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Inherent Limitations of Internal Financial Controls with Reference to Financial Statements

Because of the inherent limitations of internal financial controls with reference to financial statements,
including the possibility of collusion or improper management override of controls, material misstatements
due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected. Also, projections of any evaluation of the internal
financial controls with reference to financial statements to future periods are subject to the risk that the
internal financial controls with reference to financial statements may become inadequate because of
changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

A
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BSR&Co.LLP

Annexure B to the Independent Auditor’s Report on the financial statements
of Duet India Hotels (Pune) Private Limited for the year ended 31 March 2024
(Continued)

Other Matter

Our report under Section 143(3)(i) of the Act on the adequacy and operating effectiveness of the internal
financial controls with reference to financial statements of the Company, in so far as it relates to the
component, is based on the corresponding report of the auditor of such component for the period 10
August 2023 to 13 March 2024.

Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

ForBSR&Co.LLP
Chartered Accountants
Firm's Registration No.:101248W/W-100022

st b

Ankush Goel

Partner

Place: Gurugram Membership No.: 505121
Date: 29 May 2024 ICAI UDIN:24505121BKGXDM5574
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Duet India Hotels (Pune) Private Limited

CIN:U55101 HR2006PTC046766

Balance Sheet as at 31 March 2024

(All amounts are in INR (millions), unless otherwise stated)

ASSETS

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Financial assets
Investment in subsidiaries
Other investments
Loans
Other financial assets
[ncome tax assets (net)
Other non-current assets
Total non-current assets

Current assets
Inventories
Financial assets
Trade receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Other bank balances
Loans
Other financial assets
Other current assels
Total current assets

TOTAL ASSETS
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity
Equity share capital
[nstruments entirely equity in nature
Other equity

Total equity

Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Financial liabilities
Borrowings
Provisions
Total non-current liabilities

Current liabilities
Financial liabilities
Borrowings
Trade payables
- total outstanding dues of micro enterprises
and small enterprises
- total outstanding dues of creditors other than
micro enterprises and small enterprises
Other financial liabilities
Other current liabilities
Provisions
Total current liabilities

Total liabilities

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

The notes from Note 1 to Note 38 form an integral part of these financial statements

As per our report of even date attached

tor BSR & Co. LLP
Chartered Accountants
ICAI Firnm Registration No : 101248W/W-100022

Jhurh Ak

Ankush Goel
Parmer
Membership No : 505121

Place: Gurugram
Date 29 May 2024

Note

3
4
5
5(2)(i)
5(a)(ii)
5(b)
5(c)
6
7

9(a)
9(b)
9(c)
9(d)
9(e)
10

1
11(a)
11(b)
11(c)

12
13

14
14(a)
14(b)

14(c)
15
16

As at
31 March 2024

As at
31 March 2023

For and on behalf of Board of Directors of

Duet India Hote

N Latia
Ihreciar
DIN 07886515

Place: Gurugram
Date 29 May 2024

(Pune) Private Limited

137470 141390
. 026
379.04 63321
44018 44018
: 803
32440 1415
27.18 1560
009 067
2,545.59 2,526.00
202 426
3279 7729
2708 6038
= 50.84
98.06 -
501 0.14
217 1725
187.13 210.16
373272 2.736.16
46355 181 56
292432 292432
(1,652 80) (1.54278)
1,735.07 1,563.10
874.63 942 47
492 513
879.55 947.60
26 62 4593
109 247
5075 9485
2488 70,63
1179 10.57
297 101
118.10 225.46
997.65 1,173.06
273272 2.736.16
M 1
Q:Mi 2l 1y aarsua
- H\ A e

Simranjeet Sing
Directar
DIN 08083337

Place: Gurugram
Date: 29 May 2024

Himanshi Mahajan
Company Secretary
Membership No: 43113

Place Gurugram
Date: 29 May 2024



Duet India Hotels (Pune) Private Limited
CIN:U55101HR2006PTC046766

Statement of Profit and Loss for the year ended 31 March 2024
(All amounts are in INR (millions), unless otherwise stated)

Income

Revenue from operations
Other income

Total income

Expenses

Cost of materials consumed
Employee benefits expense
Other expenses

Earnings before finance costs, depreciation and amortisation and tax

Finance costs
Depreciation and amortisation expense
Provision for impairment of non-current investments

Profit/(Loss) before tax

Tax expense
Current tax
Deferred tax

Profit/(Loss) for the year

Other comprehensive income

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss

- Re-measurement gain on defined benefit obligations
- Income tax relating to iterns mentioned above
Other comprehensive income, net of tax

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year
Earnings/(Losses) per equity share (Face value of INR 10 each)

Basic (INR)
Diluted (INR)

The notes from Note 1 to Note 38 form an integral part of these financial statements

As per our report of even date attached

ForBSR & Co. LLP
Chartered Accountants
ICAI Firm Registration No.: 101248W/W-100022

Ao bk

Ankush Goel
Partner
Membership No : 509822

Place: Gurugram
Date: 29 May 2024

7.

DIN: 07886515

Place: Gurugram
Date: 29 May 2024

Simranjeet Sin:l

Director
DIN: 08083337

Place: Gurugram
Date: 29 May 2024

For the year ended For the year ended
Note 31 March 2024 31 March 2023
17 552.38 546.55
18 54.74 7.16
607.12 553.71
19 39.39 43.22
20 96.48 84.21
23 291.32 279.03
427.19 406.46
179.93 147.25
21 97.03 129.96
22 41.71 4413
24 - 195.92
138.74 370.01
41.19 (222.76)
6
- {0.03)
- (0.03)
41.19 (222.73)
20 1.27 0.11
- (0.03)
1.27 0.08
42.46 (222.65)
25
0.19 (1.03)
0.19 (1.03)
For and on behalf of Board of Directors of
Duet India Hotels (Pune) Private Limited
,9. f"ﬂﬂvr\; Q! \A\‘MQH\'L"
—

Himanshi Mahajan
Company Secretary
Membership No: 43113

Place: Gurugram
Date: 29 May 2024



Duet India Hotels (Pune) Private Limited
CIN:US5101HR2006PTC046766

Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 31 March 2024
(All amounts are in INR (millions), unless otherwise stated)

A. Cash flows from operating activities
Profit/(loss) before tax
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortisation expense
Provision for bad and doubtful debts
Provision/ liabilities no longer required written back
Advance written off
Finance costs
Interest income
Gain on foreign exchange fluctuation (net)
Loss on foreign exchange fluctuation (net)
Gain on modification of financial liability
Loss on modification of financial liability
Reversal of provision for deemed investment in form of loans given to subsidiaries
Provision for impairment of non current investments
Operating cash flows before movement in assets and liabilities
Decrease/(Increase) in inventories
Decrease/(Increase) in trade receivables
(Increase) in other financial assets
(Increase) in other assets
(Decrease)/Increase in trade payables
Increase in other liabilities
Increase/(Decrease) in provisions
(Decrease)/Increase in other financial liabilities
Cash generated from operations
Income taxes (paid)/refunded - net
Net cash generated by operating activities (A)

B. Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets
Proceeds from repayment of loans given
Proceeds from intercorporate loans to other parties
Loans given in the form of deemed investment
Intercorporate loan repaid by related parties
Proceeds from sale of investment
Intercorporate loan provided to related parties
Distribution to fellow subsidiaries on behalf of the parent company - Addition
Distribution to fellow subsidiaries on behalf of the parent company - Repayment
Interest received
Bank deposits made

Net cash (used)/ generated in investing activities (B)

C. Cash flows from financing activities

Repayment of intercorporate borrowings
Finance costs paid
Proceeds from issue of equity share capital
Redemption of NCCRPS
Repayment of long term borrowings
Payment of processing fees and other ancillary borrowing cost
Capital contribution on behalf of parent company - Addition
Capital contribution on behalf of parent company - Repayment
(Repayment)/Proceeds - current borrowings - net

Net cash used in financing activities (C)

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (A+B+C)

Cash and cash equivalents acquired pursuant to acquisition (refer note 30)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

Notes to statement of cash flows
i. Components of cash and cash equivalents
Cash on hand
Balances with banks
- Im current accounts
- in deposit accounts (with original maturity of 3 months or less)

Ao

For the year ended
31 March 2024

For the year ended
31 March 2023

41.19 (222.76)
4171 44.13
5.55 328
(5.64) (4.46)
- 0.15
97.03 121.64
(20.33) (2.39)
(0.78) .

- 0.81

(23.06) -
4.18 -
(2.60) -
- 195.92
137.25 136.32
2.24 (0.94)
43.04 (38.69)
(7.06) (2.45)
(4.24) (8.98)
(49.35) 39.57
1.22 3.98
2.85 (0.03)
(44.83) 3.57
81.12 132.35
(11.58) 3.02
69.54 135.37
(1.85) (2.62)
- 2.91
8.03 -
- (4.61)
29.65
256.77 -
(98.06) -
(30.53) (15.75)
29.00 31.00
20.33 2.85
(257.22) (30.05)
(73.53) 13.38

: (0.40)

(95.87) (97.23)
55.52 .

(55.52) -
(2.67) -

- (30.10)
122,38 -
(27.78) (0.80)
(25.76) 25.76
(29.70) (102.77)
(33.69) 45.98

0.39 .
60.38 14.40
27.08 60.38

As at
31 March 2024

As at
31 March 2023

018 0.16
26.90 37.22
- 23.00
27.08 60.38




Duet India Hotels (Pune) Private Limited
CIN:U55101HR2006PTC046766

Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 31 March 2024
(All amounts are in INR (millions), unless otherwise stated)

Notes to statement of cash flows (continued)

ii. Movement in financial borrowings

For the year ended
31 March 2024

For the year ended
31 March 2023

Opening Balance 988,40 969.49
Changes from financing cash flows

Repayment of intercorporate borrowings - (0.40)
Finance costs paid (95.87) -
Redemption of Equity component of Cumulative Redeemable Non-Convertible Preference Shares ("NCCRPS™) (55.52) -
Repayment of long term borrowings (2.67) -
(Repayment)/Proceeds - current borrowings - net (25.76) 25.76
Payment of processing fees and other ancillary borrowing cost - (30.10)
Other non cash changes

Finance costs 111,55 23.65
Gain on modification of financial liability (23.06)

Loss on modification of financial liability 4.18 -
Closing Balance 901.25 988.40

iii. The Cash Flows from operating activities section in Statement of Cash Flows has been prepared in accordance with the 'Indirect Method' as set out in the Ind AS 7

"Statement of Cash Flows"

The notes from Note 1 to Note 38 form an integral part of these financial statements,

As per our report of even date attached

ForBSR & Co. LLP
Chartered Accountants
ICAI Firm Registration No.: 101248W/W-100022

W@J

Ankush Goel
Partner
Membership No.: 509822

Place: Gurugram
Date: 29 May 2024

For and on behalf of Board of Directors of
Duet India Hotels (Pune) Private Limited

Director
DIN: 07886515

Place: Gurugram
Date: 29 May 2024

bt

Simranjeet Singh
Director
DIN: 08083337

Place: Gurugram
Date: 29 May 2024

Himanshi Mahajan
Company Secretary
Membership No: 43113

Place: Gurugram
Date: 29 May 2024
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Duet India Hotels (Pune) Private Limited

CIN: U55101HR2006PTC046766

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024
(All amounts in Rupees millions, unless otherwise stated)

la(i) Corporate information

1agii)

A.

Duet India Hotels (Pune) Private Limited ('the Company') was incorporated on July 21, 2006 under the

Companies Act, 1956. The Company is primarily engaged in acquisition, development, operation and
management of Hotels in India.

The Shareholders of the Company (“ACIC Mauritius 1” and “ACIC Mauritius 2”) on 30 March 2023
had entered into a Share Subscription and Purchase Agreement with SAMHI Hotels Limited (“SAMHI”
or “Acquirer”) for conditional sale of their shareholding in the Company to SAMHI Hotels Limited
(“SAMHI” or “Acquirer”). During the current year, the transfer of shareholding has been executed on

10 August 2023, resulting in SAMHI being the holding company of the Company w.e.f. 10 August
2023.

Basis of preparation
Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Indian Accounting Standards (Ind
AS) as per the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015 as amended from time to time

notified under Section 133 of the Companies Act, 2013, (‘Act’) and other relevant provisions of the
Act.

The financial statements are approved for issue by the Company’s Board of Directors on 29 May 2024.

Details of the Company’s accounting policies, including changes thereto, are included in Note 2(a) and
Note 2(b).

Functional and presentation currency

The financial statements are presented in Indian Rupees (INR), which is also the Company’s functional
currency. All amounts have been rounded to the nearest millions, unless otherwise indicated.

Basis of Measurement
The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost basis.

Critical estimates and judgments

In preparing these financial statements, management has made judgments and estimates that affect the
application of Company’s accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income
and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to estimates are
recognized prospectively.
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Duet India Hotels (Pune) Private Limited

CIN: US5101HR2006PTC046766

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024
(All amounts in Rupees millions, unless otherwise stated)

Assumptions and estimation uncertainties

Information about assumptions and estimation uncertainties at the reporting date that have a significant
risk of resulting in a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year is included in the following notes:
¢ Financial instruments - Note 29
e Measurement of ECL allowance for trade receivables and other assets — Note 29
e Assessment of useful life and residual value of property, plant and equipment and intangible
assets — Note 3 and 4
e Estimation of obligations relating to employee benefits (including actuarial assumptions) —
Note 20
e Recognition and measurement of provisions and contingencies: key assumptions about the
likelihood and magnitude of an outflow of resources — Note 26A
e Recognition of deferred tax assets: availability of future taxable profits against which
deductible temporary differences and tax losses carried forward can be utilized - Note 6

E. Current/ Non-current classification

Based on the time involved between the acquisition of assets for processing and their realization in cash
or cash equivalents, the Company has identified twelve months as its operating cycle for determining
current and non-current classification of assets and liabilities in the balance sheet.

F. Measurement of fair values

A number of the Company’s accounting policies and disclosures require the measurement of fair values,
for both financial and non-financial assets and liabilities.

The Company has an established control framework with respect to the measurement of fair values.
This includes a finance team of Holding Company that has overall responsibility for overseeing all
significant fair value measurements, including Level 3 fair values and reports directly to the chief
financial officer.

Fair values are categorized into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based on the inputs used in the
valuation techniques as follows:

* Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

» Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).

* Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable
inputs).

When measuring the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Company uses observable market data as far
as possible. If the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset or a liability fall into different levels
of the fair value hierarchy, then the fair value measurement is categorised in its entirety in the same level
of the fair value hierarchy as the lowest level input that is significant to the entire measurement.

The Company recognises transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy at the end of the reporting
period during which the change has occurred.




Duet India Hotels (Pune) Private Limited

CIN: U55101HR2006PTC046766

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024
(All amounts in Rupees millions, unless otherwise stated)

2 Material accounting policies
1) Property, plant and equipment
Recognition and measurement

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment shall be recognized as an asset if, and only if it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Company and the cost
of the item can be measured reliably.

[tems of property, plant and equipment (including capital-work-in-progress) are measured at cost, which
includes capitalized borrowing cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment
losses. Freehold land is carried at historical cost less any accumulated impairment losses.

Cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price, including import duties
and non-refundable purchase taxes, after deducting trade discounts and rebates, any directly attributable
cost of bringing the item to its working condition for its intended use and estimated costs of dismantling
and removing the item and restoring the site on which it is located.

The cost of a self-constructed item of property, plant and equipment comprises the cost of materials and
direct labour, any other costs directly attributable to bringing the item to working condition for its
intended use, and estimated costs of dismantling and removing the item and restoring the site on which

it is located.

If significant parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, then they are
accounted for as separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment.

Any gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognized in profit or loss.
Transition to IndAS

The Company had elected to use the fair value of all the item of property, plant and equipment on the
date of transition i.e. 1 April 2021, and designate the same as deemed cost.

Subsequent expenditure

Subsequent expenditure is capitalized only if it is probable that the future economic benefits associated
with the expenditure will flow to the Company and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

Depreciation
Depreciation is calculated on cost of item of property, plant and equipment less their estimated residual
values using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives and is generally recognized in the

statement of profit and loss. Freehold land is not depreciated.

The estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment for current and comparative period are as
follows:




Duet India Hotels (Pune) Private Limited

CIN: U55101HR2006PTC046766

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024
(All amounts in Rupees millions, unless otherwise stated)

Asset Management’s estimate of Useful life as per Schedule II
Useful Life to the Companies Act, 2013
Building 10-60 years 60 years
Computers and accessories 3-6 years 3-6 years
Plant and machinery 5-20 years 15 years
Furniture and fixtures 3-15 years 10 years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted
if appropriate. Based on technical evaluation and consequent advice, the management believes that its
estimates of useful lives as given above best represent the period over which management expects to
use these assets.

Depreciation on addition/ (disposals) is provided on a pro-rata basis i.e. from / (up to) the date on which
the asset is ready for use/ (disposed off).

2) Intangible assets
Recognition and measurement

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible
assets acquired in a business combination is recognized at fair value at the date of acquisition. An
intangible asset is recognized only if it is probable that future economic benefits attributable to the asset
will flow to the Company and the cost of the asset can be measured reliably. Following initial
recognition, other intangible asset, including those acquired by the Company in a business combination
and have finite useful lives are measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment loss.

Subsequent expenditure

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied in
the specific asset to which it relates and the cost of the asset can be measured reliably. All other
expenditure, including expenditure on internally generated goodwill, is recognised in profit or loss as
incurred.

Amortisation

Amortisation is calculated to write off the cost of intangible assets less their estimated residual values
using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives and is generally recognized in
depreciation and amortization in Statement of profit and loss.

The estimated useful lives are as follows:

Category of assets Management’s estimate of Useful Life
Computer software 3-10 years

Amortization methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted
if appropriate.
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Duet India Hotels (Pune) Private Limited

CIN: U55101HR2006PTC046766

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024
(All amounts in Rupees millions, unless otherwise stated)

3) Financial instruments

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial
liability or equity instrument of another entity.

Recognition and initial measurement

Trade receivables and debt securities issued are initially recognised when they are originated. All other
financial assets and financial liabilities are initially recognised when the Company becomes a party to
the contractual provisions of the instrument.

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable without a significant financing component) or financial
liability is initially measured at fair value plus or minus, for an item not at FVTPL, transaction costs
that are attributable to its acquisition or issue. A trade receivable without a significant financing
component is initially measured at the transaction price.

The Company’s financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value less any attributable transaction
costs. Subsequent to initial measurement, these are measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest (‘EIR”) method.

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred and are subsequently
measured at amortised cost. Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as
transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn
down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the draw down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence
that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee is considered as a
prepayment and amortised over the period of the facility to which it relates.

The Company’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables, Loans and borrowings including
bank overdrafts

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition at fair value through statement of profit and loss
are designated as such at the initial date of recognition, and only if the criteria in Ind AS 109 are
satisfied. For liabilities designated as FVTPL, fair value gains/ losses attributable to changes in own
credit risk are recognized in OCI. These gains/ loss are not subsequently transferred to statement of
profit and loss. However, the Company may transfer the cumulative gain or loss within equity. All other
changes in fair value of such liability are recognised in statement of profit and loss. The Company has
not designated any financial liability as at fair value through statement of profit and loss.

* Financial liabilities at amortised cost (LLoans and Borrowings)

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the EIR method. Gains and losses are recognised in statement of profit and loss when the
liabilities are derecognised as well as through the EIR amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or
costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is included as finance costs in statement
of profit and loss.
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CIN: US5101HR2006PTC046766

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024
(All amounts in Rupees millions, unless otherwise stated)

Classification and Subsequent measurement
Financial assets

On initial recognition, a financial assets is classified as measured at:
e  Amortised cost
o FVOCI - debt investment;
e FVOCI - equity investment;
e FVTPL.

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unless the Company changes its
business model for managing financial asset, in which case all affected financial assets are reclassified on
the first day of the first reporting period following the changes in the business model.

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is not
designated as at FVTPL:
— the asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual
cash flows; and
— the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

A debt investment is measured at FVOCI if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated
as at FVTPL:
— the asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting
contractual cash flows and selling financial assets; and
— the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.
On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading, the Company may irrevocably
elect to present subsequent changes in the investment’s fair value in OCI. This election is made on an
investment-by-investment basis.
All financial assets not classified as measured at amortised cost or FVOCI as described above are
measured at FVTPL. This includes all derivative financial assets. On initial recognition, the Company
may irrevocably designate a financial asset that otherwise meets the requirements to be measured at
amortised cost or at FVOCI as at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting
mismatch that would otherwise arise.

Financial assets: Business model assessment

The Company makes an assessment of the objective of the business model in which a financial asset is
held at a portfolio level because this best reflects the way the business is managed and information is
provided to management. The information considered includes:

— the stated policies and objectives for the portfolio and the operation of those policies in practice.
These include whether management’s strategy focuses on earning contractual interest income,
maintaining a particular interest rate profile, matching the duration of the financial assets to the
duration of any related liabilities or expected cash outflows or realising cash flows through the sale
of the assets;

— how the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and reported to the Company’s management;

— the risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within that
business model) and how those risks are managed; and

— the frequency, volume and timing of sales of financial assets in prior periods, the reasons for such
sales and expectations about future sales activity.
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Duet India Hotels (Pune) Private Limited

CIN: U55101HR2006PTC046766

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024
(All amounts in Rupees millions, unless otherwise stated)

Transfers of financial assets to third parties in transactions that do not qualify for derecognition are not
considered sales for this purpose, consistent with the Company’s continuing recognition of the assets.

Financial assets: Assessment whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and
interest

For the purposes of this assessment, ‘principal’ is defined as the fair value of the financial asset on initial
recognition. ‘Interest’ is defined as consideration for the time value of money and for the credit risk
associated with the principal amount outstanding during a particular period of time and for other basic
lending risks and costs (e.g. liquidity risk and administrative costs), as well as a profit margin.

In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest, the

Company considers the contractual terms of the instrument. This includes assessing whether the

financial asset contains a contractual term that could change the timing or amount of contractual cash

flows such that it would not meet this condition. In making this assessment, the Company considers:

- contingent events that would change the amount or timing of cash flows;

- terms that may adjust the contractual coupon rate, including variable interest rate features;

- prepayment and extension features;

- terms that limit the Company’s claim to cash flows from specified assets (e.g. non-recourse
features).

Financial assets: Subsequent measurement and gains and losses

Financial assets These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Net gains and
at FVTPL losses, including any interest or dividend income, are recognised in
profit or loss.

Financial assets at | These assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
amortised cost effective interest method. The amortised cost is reduced by impairment
losses. Interest income, foreign exchange gains and losses and
impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on
derecognition is recognised in profit or loss.

Debt investments at | These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Interest income
Fueel under the effective interest method, foreign exchange gains and losses
and impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Other net gains and
losses are recognised in OCI. On derecognition, gains and losses
accumulated in OCI are reclassified to profit or loss.

Equity These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Dividends are
investments at recognised as income in profit or loss unless the dividend clearly
FVOCI represents a recovery of part of the cost of the investment. Other net
gains and losses are recognised in OCI and are not reclassified to profit
or loss.

Financial liabilities: Classification, subsequent measurement and gains and losses

Financial liabilities are classified as measured at amortised cost or FVTPL. A financial liability is
classified as at FVTPL if it is classified as held-for-trading, or it is a derivative or it is designated as such
on initial recognition. Financial liabilities at FVTPL are measured at fair value and net gains and losses,
including any interest expense, are recognised in profit or loss. Other financial liabilities are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Interest expense and
foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is
also recognised in profit or loss.
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Duet India Hotels (Pune) Private Limited

CIN: US5101HR2006PTC046766

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024
(All amounts in Rupees millions, unless otherwise stated)

Derecognition

Financial assets

The Company derecognizes a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the
financial asset expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction
in which substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred
or in which the Company neither transfers nor retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of
ownership and does not retain control of the financial asset.

If the Company enters into transactions whereby it transfers assets recognised on its balance sheet, but
retains either all or substantially all of the risks and rewards of the transferred assets, the transferred
assets are not derecognized.

Financial liabilities

The Company derecognizes a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or
cancelled, or expire.

The Company also derecognizes a financial liability when its terms are modified and the cash flows
under the modified terms are substantially different. In such case, a new financial liability based on the
modified terms is recognised at fair value. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial
liability extinguished and the new financial liability with modified terms is recognised in profit or loss.

Offsetting

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the Balance Sheet
when, and only when, the Company currently has a legally enforceable right to set off the amounts and
it intends either to settle them on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Modification of financial assets and liabilities
Financial assets:

If the terms of a financial assets are modified, the Company evaluates whether the cash flows of the
modified asset are substantially different. If the cash flows are substantially different, then the
contractual rights to cash flows from the original financial asset are deemed to have expired. In this
case, the original financial asset is derecognized and a new financial asset is recognized at fair value.

If the cash flows of the modified asset carried at amortized cost are not substantially different, then the
modification does not result in derecognition of the financial asset. In this case, the Company
recalculates the gross carrying amount of the financial asset and recognizes the amount arising from
adjusting the gross carrying amount as a modification gain or loss in profit or loss.

Financial Liabilities:

The Company derecognizes a financial liability when its terms are modified and the cash flows of the
modified liability are substantially different. In this case, a new financial liability based on the modified
terms is recognised at fair value. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
extinguished and the new financial liability with modified terms is recognised in profit or loss.
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CIN: U55101HR2006PTC046766

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024
(All amounts in Rupees millions, unless otherwise stated)

Fully Compulsorily convertible debentures

The Company has issued fully compulsorily convertible debentures (FCCDs). As per the terms of
debenture agreement, each debenture will be converted into equity shares based on an agreed conversion
formula (fixed to fixed conversion). FCCDs are separated into liability (as applicable) and equity
components based on the terms of the contract. On issuance of the FCCDs, the fair value of the liability
component is determined using a market rate for an equivalent non-convertible instrument. This amount
is classified as a financial liability measured at amortised cost (net of transaction costs) until it is
extinguished or converted. The remainder of the proceeds is allocated to equity since conversion option
meets Ind AS 32 criteria for fixed to fixed classification.

Not compulsorily convertible preference shares

The Company has issued not compulsorily convertible redeemable preference shares (NCCRPSs). As per
the terms of NCCRPS agreement, each NCCRPS will be redeemed within a specified period from the date
of issue or failing that on account of insufficiency of profit, as soon as possible thereafter, subject to
maximum 20 years from the date of issue. NCCRPSs are separated into liability and equity components
based on the terms of the contract. On issuance of the NCCRPSs, the fair value of the liability component
is determined using a market rate for an equivalent non-convertible instrument. This amount is classified
as a financial liability measured at amortised cost (net of transaction costs) until it is extinguished. The
remainder of the proceeds is allocated to equity.

Compulsorily convertible cumulative preference shares

The Company has issued Compulsory convertible Cumulative Preference Shares (CCCPS). As per the
terms of CCCPS agreement, each CCCPS will be converted into 1 equity share based as per the terms of
contract. These CCCPS are classified as equity since conversion option meets Ind AS 32 criteria for fixed
to fixed classification.

4) Impairment
A. Impairment of financial assets

The Company recognises loss allowances for expected credit losses on financial assets measured at
amortised cost.

At each reporting date, the Company assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised cost and
debt securities at Fair value through profit and loss (FVTPL) are credit-impaired. A financial asset is
‘credit- impaired” when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash
flows of the financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit- impaired includes the following observable data:

- significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer;

- the restructuring of a loan or advance by the Company on terms that the Company would not
consider otherwise;

- itis probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganization; or

- the disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties.
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024
(All amounts in Rupees millions, unless otherwise stated)

The Company measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses, except
for the following, which are measured as 12 month expected credit losses
- debt securities that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date; and
- other debt securities and bank balances for which credit risk (i.e. the risk of default occurring over
the expected life of the financial instrument) has not increased significantly since initial
recognition,

Loss allowances for trade receivables are always measured at an amount equal to lifetime expected
credit losses.

Lifetime expected credit losses are the expected credit losses that result from all possible default events
over the expected life of a financial instrument.

12-month expected credit losses are the portion of expected credit losses that result from default events
that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date (or a shorter period if the expected life of the
instrument is less than 12 months).

In all cases, the maximum period considered when estimating expected credit losses is the maximum
contractual period over which the Company is exposed to credit risk.

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since initial
recognition and when estimating expected credit losses, the Company considers reasonable and
supportable information that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This includes both
quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based on the Company’s historical experience
and informed credit assessment and including forward- looking information.

Measurement of expected credit losses

Expected credit losses are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured
as the present value of all cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the Company
in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Company expects to receive).

As a practical expedient, the Company uses a provision matrix to determine impairment loss allowance
on portfolio of its trade receivables. The provision matrix is based on its historically observed default
rates over the expected life of the trade receivables and is adjusted for forward-looking estimates. At
every reporting date, the historical observed default rates are updated and changes in the forward-
looking estimates are analyzed.

Presentation of allowance for expected credit losses in the balance sheet
Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortised cost are deducted from the gross carrying
amount of the assets.

Write-off

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off (either partially or in full) to the extent that
there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally the case when the Company determines that
the debtor does not have assets or sources of income that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay
the amounts subject to the write- off. However, financial assets that are written off could still be subject
to enforcement activities in order to comply with the Company’s procedures for recovery of amounts
due.
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CIN: US5101HR2006PTC046766

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024
(All amounts in Rupees millions, unless otherwise stated)

3)

B. Impairment of non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of assets are reviewed at each reporting date if there is any indication of
impairment based on internal/external factors. If any such indication exists, then the asset's recoverable
amount is estimated. Goodwill is tested annually for impairment.

For impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest Company of assets that generates
cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or
CGUs. Goodwill arising from a business combination is allocated to CGUs or groups of CGUs that are
expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.

The recoverable amount of an individual asset or Cash Generating Unit (CGU) is the greater of its
value in use and its fair value less costs to disposal. Value in use is based on the estimated future cash
flows, discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and risks specific to the asset or CGU.

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its estimated
recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss. They are
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the CGU, and then to reduce
the carrying amounts of the other assets of the CGU on a pro rata basis.

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not subsequently reversed. In respect of other assets for
which impairment loss has been recognised in prior periods, the Company reviews at each reporting
date whether there is any indication that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss
is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. Such
a reversal is made only to the extent that the asset's carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had
been recognised.

Inventories

Inventories which comprises stock of food and beverages (including liquor), operating supplies and
stock-in-trade are carried at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost of inventories comprises all
costs of purchase and other costs incurred in bringing the inventory to their present location and
condition. In determining the cost, first in first out (“FIFO”) method is used. Net realisable value is the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of completion and the
estimated costs to make the sale.
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CIN: U55101HR2006PTC046766

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024
(All amounts in Rupees millions, unless otherwise stated)

6) Provisions (other than employee benefits)

Provisions are recognized when the Company has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result
of past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required
to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Expected
future operating losses are not provided for.

When the Company expects some or all of the expenditure required to settle a provision will be
reimbursed by another party, the reimbursement is recognized when, and only when, it is virtually
certain that reimbursement will be received if the entity settles the obligation. The reimbursement is
treated as a separate asset.

Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. The
unwinding of the discount is recognised as finance cost.

Provisions are reviewed at each Balance Sheet date.
7) Contingent liabilities

Contingent liability is a possible obligation arising from past events whose existence will be confirmed
only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly withing
the control of the entity or a present obligation that arises from past events but is not recognised because
it is not probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle
the obligation or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability. The
Company does not recognize a contingent liability but discloses its existence in the financial statements.

Contingent Asset

Contingent asset is not recognised in financial statements since this may result in the recognition of
income that may never be realised. However, when the realisation of income is virtually certain, then
the related asset is not a contingent asset and is recognized.

Contingent liabilities and contingent assets are reviewed at each Balance Sheet date.
8) Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are interest and other costs (including exchange differences relating to foreign currency
borrowings to the extent that they are regarded as an adjustment to interest costs) incurred in connection
with the borrowing of funds. Borrowing costs directly attributable to acquisition or construction of an
asset which necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use are
capitalized as part of cost of that asset. Other borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the period
in which they are incurred.
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024
(A1l amounts in Rupees millions, unless otherwise stated)

9) Employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits

Employee benefits payable wholly within twelve months of receiving employee services are classified
as short-term employee benefits. These benefits include salaries and wages, short-term bonus and ex-
gratia. The undiscounted amount of short-term employee benefits to be paid in exchange for employee
services is recognised as an expense as the related service is rendered by employees.

Post-employment benefits
Defined contribution plan — Provident fund and Employee state insurance

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays specified
contributions and has no obligation to pay any further amounts. Provident fund scheme and employee
state insurance are defined contribution schemes. The Company makes specified monthly contributions
towards these schemes. The Company's contributions are recorded as an expense in the profit or loss
during the period in which the employee renders the related service. If the contribution already paid is
less than the contribution payable under the scheme for service received before the balance sheet date,
the deficit payable under the scheme is recognized as a liability after deducting the contribution already
paid. If the contribution already paid exceeds the contribution due for services received before the
balance sheet date, then excess is recognized as an asset to the extent that the pre-payment will lead to
a reduction in future payment or a cash refund.

Defined benefit plan — Gratuity

The Company's gratuity scheme is a defined benefit plan. The present value of obligations under such
defined benefit plans are determined based on actuarial valuation carried out by an independent actuary
using the Projected Unit Credit Method, which recognizes each period of service as giving rise to an
additional unit of employee benefit entitlement and measures each unit separately to build up the final
obligation.

The obligation is measured at the present value of estimated future cash flows. The discount rates used
for determining the present value of obligation under defined benefit plans, are based on the market
yields on government securities as at the balance sheet date, having maturity period approximating to
the terms of related obligations.

Remeasurement gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial
assumptions are recognized in the period in which they occur, directly in other comprehensive income
and are never reclassified to profit or loss. Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligation
resulting from plan amendments or curtailments are recognized immediately in the profit or loss as past
service cost.
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024
(All amounts in Rupees millions, unless otherwise stated)

Other long-term employee benefits — compensated absences

The employees can carry-forward a portion of the unutilized accrued compensated absences and utilize
it in future service periods or receive cash compensation on termination of employment. Since the
compensated absences do not fall due wholly within twelve months after the end of the period in which
the employees render the related service and are also not expected to be utilized wholly within twelve
months after the end of such period, the benefit is classified as a long-term employee benefit. The
Company records an obligation for such compensated absences in the period in which the employee
renders the services that increase this entitlement. The obligation is measured on the basis of
independent actuarial valuation using the projected unit credit method. Remeasurements as a result of
experience adjustments

and changes in actuarial assumptions are recognized in the profit or loss.

10) Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognized at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Company expects to be
entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or services to a customer i.e. on transfer of control of the
goods or service to the customer. Revenue is net of indirect taxes and discounts.

Contract asset represents the Company’s right to consideration in exchange for services that the
Company has transferred to a customer when that right is conditioned on something other than the
passage of time.

When there is unconditional right to receive cash, and only passage of time is required to do invoicing,
the same is presented as Unbilled revenue.

A contract liability is recognized if a payment is received or a payment is due (whichever is earlier)
from a customer before the Company transfers the related goods or services and the Company is under
an obligation to provide only the goods or services under the contract. Contract liabilities are recognized
as revenue when the Company performs under the contract (i.e., transfers control of the related goods
or services to the customer).

The specific recognition criteria described below must also be met before revenue is recognized:
Room revenue, sale of food and beverages, recreation services

Revenue comprises room revenue, sale of food and beverages, recreation and other services relating to
hotel operations. Revenue is recognised upon rendering of the services and sale of food and beverages

which is recognised once the rooms are occupied, food and beverages are sold and other services have
been provided as per the contract with the customer.
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11) Recognition of interest income or expense

Interest income or expense is recognised using the effective interest method.

The ‘effective interest rate’ is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts
through the expected life of the financial instrument to:

- the gross carrying amount of the financial asset; or

- the amortised cost of the financial liability.

In calculating interest income and expense, the effective interest rate is applied to the gross carrying
amount of the asset (when the asset is not credit-impaired) or to the amortised cost of the liability.
However, for financial assets that have become credit-impaired subsequent to initial recognition, interest
income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset. If
the asset is no longer credit-impaired, then the calculation of interest income reverts to the gross basis.

12) Foreign currency
Foreign currency Transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the respective functional currencies of Company
companies at the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions or an average rate if the average rate
approximates the actual rate at the date of the transaction.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into the functional
currency at the exchange rate at the reporting date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured
at fair value in a foreign currency are translated into the functional currency at the exchange rate when
the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured based on historical cost in a
foreign currency are translated at the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Foreign currency
exchange differences are generally recognised in profit or loss.

13) Income taxes

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. It is recognised in profit or loss except to the
extent that it relates to a business combination, or items recognised directly in equity or in other
comprehensive income.

Current tax

Current tax comprises the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year
and any adjustment to the tax payable or receivable in respect of previous years. The amount of current tax
payable or receivable is the best estimate of the tax amount expected to be paid or received that reflects
uncertainty related to income taxes, if any. It is measured using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted
at the reporting date.

Current tax assets and current tax liabilities are offset only if there is a legally enforceable right to set
off the recognised amounts, and it is intended to realise the asset and settle the liability on a net basis or
simultaneously.
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024
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Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the corresponding amounts used for taxation purposes.

Deferred tax is not recognised for
* temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction
that:
- is not a business combination; and
- at the time of the transaction (i) affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss and
(ii) does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences
* temporary differences related to investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint arrangements
to the extent that the Company is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future; and
* taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses, unused tax credits and deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which
they can be used. Future taxable profits are determined based on the reversal of relevant taxable
temporary differences. If the amount of taxable temporary differences is insufficient to recognize a
deferred tax asset in full, then future taxable profits, adjusted for reversals of existing temporary
differences, are considered, based on the business plans in the Company. Deferred tax assets are reviewed
at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax
benefit will be realized; such reductions are reversed when the probability of future taxable profits
improves.

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realized
or the liability is settled, based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
reporting date.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax
liabilities and assets and they relate to income tax levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable
entity, or on different tax entities, but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis
or their tax assets and liabilities will be realized simultaneously.

14) Operating segments

An operating segment is a component of the Company that engages in business activities from which it
may earn revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with
any of the Company’s other components and for which discrete financial information is available.
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief
operating decision maker (CODM)

Identification of segments
In accordance with Ind AS 108 “Operating Segments”, the operating segments used to present segment

information are identified on the basis of information reviewed by the CODM to allocate resources to
the segments and assess their performance.
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024
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15) Earnings per share

Basic Earning Per Share
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit (or loss) attributable to the owners of the
Company by the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year.

Diluted Earning Per Share

Diluted earnings per share is computed by dividing the profit (considered in determination of basic
earnings per share) after considering the effect of interest and other financing costs or income (net of
attributable taxes) associated with dilutive potential equity shares by the weighted average number of
equity shares considered for deriving basis earnings per share adjusted for the weighted average number
of equity shares considered for deriving basic earnings per share adjusted for the weighted average
number of equity shares that would have been issued upon conversion of all dilutive potential equity
shares.

16) Investment in subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity controlled by the Company. Control exists when the Company has power over
the entity, is exposed, or has rights to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the
ability to affect those returns by using its power over entity.

Power is demonstrated through existing rights that give the ability to direct relevant activities, those
which significantly affect the entity’s returns. Investments in subsidiaries are carried at cost. The cost
comprises price paid to acquire investment and directly attributable cost.

17) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, balance with banks, demand deposits with banks and
other short-term highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less.

18) Measurement of earnings before finance costs, depreciation and amortisation and tax (EBITDA)

The Company has elected to present earnings before finance costs, depreciation and amortisation and
tax (EBITDA) as a separate line item on the face of the statement of profit and loss. The Company
measures EBITDA on the face of profit/ (loss) from continuing operations. In the measurement, the
Company does not include finance costs, depreciation and amortisation expense, exceptional items and
tax expense.

19) Exceptional items
On certain occasions, the size, type or incidence of an item of income or expense, pertaining to the
ordinary activities of the Company is such that its disclosure improves the understanding of the

performance of the Company. Such income or expense is classified as an exceptional item and
accordingly, disclosed in the financial statements.

8 Co

JN




Duet India Hotels (Pune) Private Limited

CIN: U55101HR2006PTC046766
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20) Share Capital

Equity shares

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of equity shares are recognised as a deduction from
equity. Income tax relating to transaction costs of an equity transaction is accounted for in accordance
with Ind AS 12.

21) Business Combination

Business combinations (other than business combinations between common control entities) are
accounted for using the purchase (acquisition) method. The cost of an acquisition is measured as the
fair value of the consideration transferred, equity instruments issued and liabilities incurred or assumed
at the date of exchange. The consideration transferred does not include amounts related to the settlement
of pre-existing relationships; such amounts are generally recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss
and Other Comprehensive Income. The cost of acquisition also includes the fair value of any contingent
consideration. [dentifiable assets acquired and liabilities & contingent liabilities assumed in a business
combination are measured initially at fair value at the date of acquisition. Transaction costs incurred in
connection with a business combination are expensed as incurred. The excess of the consideration
transferred over the fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If those
amounts are less than the fair value of the net identifiable assets of the business acquired, the difference
is recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity as capital reserve as a gain on
bargain purchase, unless there is no clear evidence for the underlying reason for classification of the
business combination as a bargain purchase, in which case, it shall be recognised directly in 'Other

Equity'.

Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount of non-controlling interests is the amount of those
interests at initial recognition plus the non-controlling interests 'share of subsequent changes in equity.

Business combinations between entities under common control are accounted at historical cost. The
difference between the consideration paid/received and the carrying amount of assets and liabilities
transferred is recorded in the amalgamation adjustment deficit account, a component of other equity.

Business combinations arising from transfers of interests in entities that are under the common control
are accounted for as if the acquisition had occurred at the beginning of the earliest comparative period
presented or, if later, at the date that common control was established; for this purpose, comparatives
are revised.

22) Government grants and subsidies

Grants and subsidies from the government are recognised when there is reasonable assurance that (i)
the Company will comply with the conditions attached to them, and (ii) the grant/subsidy will be
received.

Service Exports from India scheme (SEIS)

The scheme entitles the Group to receive SEIS licenses basis the annual earnings in foreign currency.
These licenses can be utilized by the Group or sold in the market. The grant is recognised in the
Statement of Profit and Loss on an accrual basis at realizable value.
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2b. Changes in material accounting policies
Material accounting policy information

The Company adopted Disclosure of Accounting Policies (Amendment to Ind AS 1) from 1 April
2023. Although the amendments did not result in any changes in the accounting policy themselves,
they impacted the accounting policy information disclosed in the financial statements.

The amendments require the disclosure of ‘material’ rather than ‘significant’ accounting policies. The
amendments also provide guidance on the application of materiality to disclosure of accounting
policies, assisting entities to provide useful, entity-specific accounting policy information that users
need to understand other information in the financial statements.

£5Co
% e
m o)
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024
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3 Property, plant and equipment

Reconciliation of carrying amount

Freehold Buildings Furnitures and Plant and hinery Comp s and Total property, plant
land fixtures accessories and equipment

Gross carrying amount
Balance as at 01 April 2022 413.00 978 01 36.68 104.44 316 1,535.29
Additions during the year - 0.05 0.59 1.34 0.63 261
Balance as at 31 March 2023 413.00 978.06 37.27 105.78 3.79 1,537.90
Addrtions during the year - - 0.06 1.48 0.71 225
Balance as at 31 March 2024 413.00 978.06 37.33 107.26 4.50 1,540.15
Accumulated depreciation
Balance as at 01 April 2022 - 3075 2348 23.06 3.04 8033
Depreciation charge for the year - 2098 191 20.64 014 43.67
Balance as at 31 March 2023 - 51.73 25.39 43.70 3.18 124.00
Depreciation charge for the year - 21.04 1.94 18.19 028 41.45
Balance as at 31 March 2024 - 72.77 2733 61.89 3.46 165.45
Net carrying amount
Balance as at 31 March 2023 413.00 926.33 11.88 62.08 0.61 1,413.90
Balance as at 31 March 2024 413.00 905.29 10.00 4537 1.04 1374.70

a) For details of pledged assets refer to note 12

b) On transition to Ind AS, the Company has elected to use fair value of all items of property, plant and equipment as at | April 2021 and designate the same as deemed cost

4  Intangible assets

Reconciliation of carrying amount

Brand licenses Computer soltware Total

Gross carrying amount

Balance as at 01 April 2022 0.76 053 129
Additions during the year - - -
Deletions during the year - - -
Balance as at 31 March 2023 0.76 0.53 129
Additions during the year - - -
Deletions during the year - - -
Balance as at 31 March 2024 0.76 0.53 1.29
Accumulated amortisation

Balance as at 01 April 2022 032 025 057
Amortisation expense for the year 032 0.14 046
Reversal on disposal of assets - - -
Balance as at 31 March 2023 0.64 0.39 1.03
Amortisation expense for the year 012 014 026
Reversal on disposal of assels - - -
Balance as at 31 March 2024 0.76 0.53 1.29
Net carrying amount

Balance as at 31 March 2023 0.12 0.14 0.26

Balance as at 31 March 2024 = =

On transition to Ind AS, the Company has elected to use carrying value of all items of intangible assets as at 01 April 2021 and designate the same as deemed cost
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5

S(a)i)

Financial Assets

Non-current investments : Unquoted
Investment at Cost:

In in subsidiaries

6,996,682 (31 March 2023 - 6,996,682) equity shares of Duet [ndia Hotels (Jaipur) Private Limited of INR10 each fully paid
up

Nil (31 March 2023 - 889,999) class A equity shares of Duet JKM India Hotels (Indore) Private Limited of INR10 each fully
paid up #

Nil (31 March 2023 - 2,762,823) class B equity shares of Duet JKM India Hotels (Indore) Private Limited of INR10 each
fully paid up #

Investment in preference shares of subsidiaries
629,632 (31 March 2023 - 629,632) 0.01% compulsory convertible cumulative preference shares (CCCPS) - Series 1 of
Duet India Hotels (Jaipur) Private Limited of INR19 each, fully paid up

19,877,335 (31 March 2023 - 19,877,335) 0.01% compulsory convertible cumulative preference shares (CCCPS) of Duet
India Hotels (Jaipur) Private Limited of INR10 each, fully paid up

Nil (31 March 2023 - 816,016, April 1, 2021 - 816,016) 0.01% compulsory convertible preference shares (CCCPS) of Duet
JKM India Hotels (Indore) Private Limited of INR10 each, fully paid up #

deh P

In in es of ies
18,000,724 (31 March 2023 - 18,000,724) fully compulsory convertible debentures of Duet [ndia Hotels (Jaipur) Private
Limited, of INR10 each, fully paid up*

Deemed Investment in form of loans given to subsidiaries (at cost)

Less: Accumulated impairment in the value of non current investments
Provision for investment in class A equity shares of Duet JKM India Hotels (Indore) Private Limited

Provision for investment in class B equity shares of Duet JKM India Hotels (Indore) Private Limited

Provision for investment in 0.0 (% compulsory convertible preference shares (CCCPS) of Duet JKM India Hotels (Indore)
Private Limited
Provision for deemed investment in form of loans given to subsidiaries

Current
Non current
Aggregate

tof ted in

q

*Fully Compulsory Convertible Debentures (FCCDs) carry coupon rate of SBI base rate plus 300 basis points

# [n the current year, the Company had sold its investrnent in the equity shares of Duet JKM India Hotels (Indore) Private Limited.

As at
31 March 2024

As at
31 March 2023

61.13 61.13
= 88,64
2 275.18
5.50 5.50
173.68 173.68
= 81.28
138.73 138.73
24.01 26,61
- (38.02)
- (118.05)
- (34.86)
(24.01) (26.61)
379.04 63321
379.04 63321
379.04 633221
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5 Financial Assets (continued)

Investment at Cost:

5(a)(ii) Other investments

24,487,096 (31 March 2023 - 24,487,096) 0.01% compulsory convertible preference shares (CCPS) of Duet India Hotels
(Hyderabad) Private Limited (entity under common control) of Rs.10 each, fully paid up

Current

Non current

Aggregate amount of unquoted investments
For details of pledged assets refer to note 12,
Refer to note 28 for related party disclosures

S5(b) Loans

At amortised cost

To parties other than related parties

Intercorporate loans to others parties (unsecured, repayable on demand)

Less: provision for doubtful loans

5(c) Other financial assets

Security deposits at amortized cost (unsecured)

Bank deposits (due to mature after 12 months from the reporting period)* #

* including interest accrued on fixed deposits INR 5.12 (31 March 2023 - INR 0.44)
# Includes deposits under lien amounting to INR 311.52 (31 March 2023 - INR 8.14)

6 Income tax assets (net)

Advance income tax (including TDS receivable net of provision)

As at
31 March 2024

As at
31 March 2023

440.18 440.18
440.18 440.18
440,18 440.18
440.18 440.18

As at
31 March 2024

As at
31 March 2023

255.64 267.76
(255.64) (259.73)
- 8.03

As at
31 March 2024

As at
31 March 2023

7.76 557
316.64 8.58
324.40 14.15
As at As at
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
27.18 15.60
27.18 15.60
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6  Income tax assets (net) (continued)
Income taxes
A: The major components of income tax expense/(income) are
Recognised in profit or loss

Current tax
Deferred tax

Recognised in Other comprehensive income
Income tax on other comprehensive income

B. Reconciliation of effective tax rate (tax expense and the accounting profit multiplied by Company's domestic tax rate)

Profit/(loss) before tax

Tax using the Company’s domestic tax rate

Tax Effect of:

Non recognition of deferred taxes on temporary differences
Brought Forward losses lapsed due to change in Shareholding
Others

Effective tax rate

C. Delerred tax assets / liabilities

Deferred tax assets

Unabsorbed business loss and depreciation

Impairment in value of investments

Interest on fully compulsory convertible debentures (FCCD)

Provision for employee benefits

Allowances for doubtful loans

Difference in carrying amount of borrowing between books of account and as per Income Tax Act 1961
Loss allowance for trade receivables

Deferred tax liabilities
Property, plant and equipment and Intangible assets
Dividend on cumulative redeemable non convertible preference shares (CRNPS)

Delerred tax assets (net)

Deferred tax asset / (liability) recognised*

For the year ended
31 March 2024

For the year ended
31 March 2023

0.03

003

For the year ended
31 March 2024

For the year ended
31 March 2023

- {(0.03)
. (0.03)
For the year ended For the year ended
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
% Amount % Amount
4119 (222.76)
2517 1037 2517 (56 06)
32332 133.18 (2517) 56.06
(198.71) (81.85) - -
(149 78) (61 69) - -
As at As at
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
277.05 369 11
178.76 22747
- 518
335 155
74 44 73.05
120 005
229 108
537.09 677.49
(159 36) (15791)
- (9.87)
(159.36) (167.78)
377.73 509.71

*The Company has significant unabsorbed depreciation and carry forward business losses as per Income Tax Act, 1961 In view of absence of reasonable certainty of sufficient future taxable

profits, deferred tax assets has been recognised to the extent of deferred tax liabilities only
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[3

Income tax assels (net) (continued)

D. Movement in temporary differences
31 March 2024

Balance as at
01 April 2023

Deferred tax
differences

Balance as at
31 March 2024

Particulars (A) generated but not (C=A+B)
recognised during
2023-24
(B)

Deferred tax assets
Unabsorbed business loss and depreciation 369.11 92 06 277.05
Provision for emplovee benefits 1.55 (1.80) 335
Loss atlowance for trade receivables 1.08 (121 229
Interest on fullv compulsory convertible debentures (FCCD) 518 518 .
Allowances for doubtful loans 73.05 (1.39) 74.44
Impairment in value of investments 227.47 4871 178.76
Difference in carrying amount of borrowing between books of account and as per [ncome Tax Act 1961 0.05 (1.15) 1.20

677.49 141.60 537.09
Deferred tax liabilities
Property. plant and equipment and Intangible assets (157911 145 (159.36)
Dividend on cumnulative redeemable non convertible preference shares (CRNPS) (9.87) {9.87) -

{167.78) (8.42) {159.36)
Net deferred tax asset 509.71 133.18 371.73

31 March 2023

Balance as at Deferred tax Balance as at
01 April 2022 differences 31 March 2023
Particulars (A) genera.ted but r.lot {C=A+B)
recognised during
2022-23
(B)
Deferred tax assets
Unabsorbed business loss and depreciation 36228 (6.83) 36911
Provision for employee benefits 1.57 0.02 1.55
Loss allowance for trade receivables 025 (0.83) 1.08
Difference in carrying amount of borrowing between books of account and as per Income Tax Act 1961 0.05 - 0.05
Interest on fully compulsory convertible debentures (FCCD) 463 (0.55) 518
Allowances for doubtful loans 73.05 - 73.05
Impairment in value of investmenis 178.16 (49.31) 22747
619.99 (57.50) 677.49
Deferred tax liabilities
Property. plant and equipment and [ntangible assets (160.24) (2.33) (157.91)
Dividend on lative red ble non convertible preference shares (CRNPS) (11.09) (122) (987
{171.33) (3.60) (167.78)
Net deferred tax asset 448.66 (61.10) 509.71
E. Tax losses and unabsorbed depreciation carried forward
Tax losses for which no deferred tax asset was recognised with expiry date are as follows
As at
31 March 2024
Amount Expiry Period (FY)
Unabsorbed depreciation 1,100 82 Never expire
As at
31 March 2023
Amount Expiry Period (FY)
Business loss 95 64 2026-27
Business loss 3920 2027-28
Business loss 108 82 2028-29
Business loss 5585 2029-30
Unabsorbed depreciation 1.167 03 Never expire
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7 Other non-current assets
(Unsecured, considered good)
Prepaid expenses
Capital advances
Less: Provision for doubtful capital advances

Current assets
8 Inventories
(valued at lower of cost and net realisable value)
Food and beverages
Stores and operating supplies

9 Financial assets

9(a) Current financial assets - Trade receivables
(Unsecured and considered good, unless othenvise stated)

Trade receivables

As at As at
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
0.09 063
- 079
- (0.75)
0.09 0.67
As at As at
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
2.02 362
- 0.64
2.02 4.26
==
As at As at

31 March 2024

31 March 2023

-Considered good 3817 7648

-Credit impaired - 353
Unbilled revenue

-Considered good 2 370 081

41.87 80.82
Less: Loss allowance (9.08) (3 53)
32.79 77.29
== ===
Trade receivables ageing schedule
As at 31 March 2024
Outstanding for following periods from date of transaction
Particulars QAL e LU 1-2years 2 -3 years More than 3 years Total
Revenue months year
(i) Undisputed Trade receivables — considered good 3.70 26.14 414 434 214 1.41 41.87
(it} Undisputed Trade receivables — credit impaired - - - < - - -
Total 3.70 26.14 4.14 4.34 2.14 1.41 41.87
As at 31 March 2023
Outstanding for following periods from date of transaction
Particulars s e Rl Gimonthis Sl 1-2 years 2-3years | More than 3 years Total
Revenue months year

(i) Undisputed Trade receivables — considered good 0.81 46 63 18 08 897 209 0.71 77.29
(i) Undisputed Trade receivables — credit impaired - 324 004 025 s - 3.53
Total 0.81 49.87 18.12 9.22 2.09 0.71 80.82

(a) The company does not have any disputed dues which are receivables as at 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2023
(b) The Company's exposure to credit and currency risks, and loss allowances related to trade receivables are disclosed in note 29

(c) For receivables secured against borrowings, refer to note 12
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9 Financial assets (continued)

9(b)  Current financial assets - Cash and cash eauivalents As at Asat
(Unsecnred and considered good, unless otherwise stated) 31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Balances with banks

- in current accounts 26.90 3722

- on deposit accounts (with original maturity of 3 months or less) - 2300
Cash on hand 018 016
27.08 60.38

9(c) Other bank balances
Bank balances other than cash and cash equivalents As at As at
(Unsecured and considered good, nnless otherwise stated) 31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Bank deposits with original maturity of more than 3 months but less than 12 months - 50.84

- 50.84

9(d) Current financial assets - Loans As at As at
(Unsecured and considered good, unless otherwise siated) 31 March 2024 31 March 2023
To related parties
Intercorporate loans to related parties * 98 06 -
To parties other than related parties
Intercorporate loans to others parties (repayable on demand) 3050 30.50
Less: provision for doubtful loans (30.50) (30.50)

98.06 =
* Includes interest accrued amounting to INR 0 56 (31 March 2023 - INR Nil)
Intercorporate foans to related parties
Particul Loan amount as on Interest rate charged per annum o Terms
ars Lt
s 31 March 2024 | 31 March 2023 | 31 March 2024 | 31 March 2023 it &
SAMHI Hotels Limited 90.22 » 11.50% NA| Repayable within 12 months from the date
Duct India Hotels (Chennai OMR) Privatc Limited 2.10 11,50% NA|of drawdown
Duct India Hotels (Chennai) Private Limited 374 11.50%) NA

9(e) Current financial assets - Others As at As at
(Unsecured and considered good, unless otherwise stated) 31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Other receivables 008 -
Government grant 493 -
Loans to employees - 0.14

5.01 0.14
10 Other current assets As at As at

(Unsecured and considered good)

Staff advance

Advance to suppliers

Balance with statutory authorities
Other receivables

Prepaid expenses *

* includes current portion of non-current prepaid expenses amounting to INR 0 06 (31 March 2023 - INR Nil )

31 March 2024

31 March 2023

009 -
594 380
426 593
- 010
1188 742
22.17 17.25
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11

11(a)

Equity

Authorised share capital
Equity shares of INR 10 each

Cumulative Redeemable Non-Convertible Preference Shares (CRNPS) of Rs 10 each
0.01% Compulsorily Convertible Cumulative Preference Shares (CCCPS) of Rs. 10 each

Issued, subscribed and fully paid up
Equity shares of INR 10 each

a) Reconciliation of the equity shares outstanding at the beginning and at the end of reporting year

Equity shares

At the beginning of the year

Add : Issued during the year (Refer to note 11(c)(b))*
At the end of the year

As at As at
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Number of shares Amount Number of shares Amount
46,355,122 46355 21,547,448 21547
- - 5,551,980 5552
45,900,572 459.01 45,900,572 45901
92,255,694 922.56 73.000.000 730,00
46,355,122 463.55 18,155,761 181.56
46,355,122 463.55 18,155,761 181.56
For the year ended For the year ended

31 March 2024

31 March 2023

Number of shares Amount Number of shares Amount
18,155,761 181.56 18,155,761 181.56
28,199,361 28199 - -
46,355,122 463.55 18,155,761 181.56

* The Board of Directors of the Company, in its meeting held on 27 March 2024, approved allotment of 5,551,980 equity shares of INR 10 each on rights basis to the shareholder of the Company as per the

provisions of Section 62 of the Companies Act'2013

b) Rights, preferences and restrictions attached to equity shares

The Company has only one class of equity shares having the par value of INR 10 per share Each holder of equily share is entilled to one vote per share. The equity shares are entitled to receive dividend as and
when declared In the event of liquidation of the Company, the holder of equity shares will be entitled to receive remaining assets of the Company, after distribution of all preferential amounts The distribution will

be in proportion to the number of equity shares held by the shareholders

Shares held by holding y or their subsidiaries/

Name of shareholder

Equity shares of INR 10 each

ACIC Maunitius 1, the holding company till 10 August 2023

ACIC Mauritius 2, entity having significant influence till 10 August 2023
SAMHI Hotels Limited, the holding company from 10 August 2023*

*1 equity share is held by Mr. Gyana Das as a nominee shareholder

Details of shareholders holding mere than 5% shares

Name of shareholder

As at
31 March 2024

As at
31 March 2023

Number of shares Amount Number of shares Amount
- - 18,155,479 18155
- - 282 001
46,355,122 463.55 - -
46.355.122 iﬁs 18,155,761 181.56

As at
31 March 2024

As at
31 March 2023

Number of shares % of halding Number of shares % of holding
Equity shares of INR 10 each
ACIC Mauritius |, the holding company till 10 August 2023 - - 18,155,479 100%
SAMHI Hotels Limited, the holding company from 10 August 2023 46,355,122 100% - -
46,355,122 1005 18,155,761 100%:
o
Details of shares held by promoters
As at 31 March 2024
. < No, of shares at the Change during the  No, of shares at the % change during
No. Ni SR
Bl Frometeriivame beginning of the year year end of the year %500 Vol Shiares the year
1 ACIC Mauritius 1, il 10 August 2023 18,155,479 (18,155,479} - 0% -100%
2 ACIC Mauritius 2 282 (282) - 0% -100%
3 SAMHI Hotels Limited w e.f. 10 August 2023 - 46,355,122 46,355,122 100% 100%

As at 31 March 2023

S No. Promoter Name

No. of shares at the  Change during the  No. of shares at the

% of Total Shares

% change during
the year

b of the year year end of the year
1 ACIC Mauritius { 18,155,479 - 18,155,479 100%
2 ACIC Mauritius 2 282 - 282 0%
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11 Equity (continued)

11({b) Instruments entirely equity in nature

Compulsorily Convertible Cumulative Preference Shares (CCCPS) of Rs.10 each
Balance as at the beginning/end of the year

Fully Comp ily Convertible Deb,
Balance as at the beginning/end of the year

es (FCCDs)

Total instruments entirely equity in nature

Issued, subscribed and paid up Share Capital

As at As at
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Number of shares Amount Number of shares Amount
45,900,572 45901 45,900,572 45901
246,531,440 2,465.31 246,531,440 2,46531
292,432,012 2,924.32 292.432.012 2.924.32
e
As at As at

45,900,572 (31 March 2023 - 45,900,572) 0 01% Compulsorily Convertible Cumulative Preference Shares (CCCPS) of Rs 10 each

Rights, preferences and restrictions attached to Compulsorily Convertible Cumulative Preference Shares (CCCPS)
Dividend @ 0.01% per annum Each CCCPS shall get converted into one equity share along with accumulated dividend into corresponding number of equity shares and such equity shares be of a value Rs 10

each on or before 20 years from the date of issue

31 March 2024 31 March 2023

459.01 45901

459.01 459.01

Compulsorily Convertible Cumulative Preference shares (CCCPS) carry a preferential right as to dividend over equity shareholders The preference shareholders do not acquire any voting rights In the event of

liquidation, preference shareholders have a preft

31 March 2023, the Company has not declared any dividend to preference shareholders

Compulserily Convertible Cumulative Preference Shares (CCCPS) held by holding company

Name of shareholder

SAMHI Hotels Limited, the holding company from 10 August 2023
ACIC Maurilius 1, the holding company till 10 August 2023

Details of shareholders holding more than 5% Compulsorily Convertible Cumulative Preference Shares
(CCCPS) of the Company

SAMHI Hotels Limited, the holding company from 10 August 2023
ACIC Mauritius |, the holding company till 10 August 2023

| right over equity shareholders to be repaid to the extent of capital paid-up and dividend in arrears on such shares During the year ended 31 March 2024 and

Asat As at
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Number of shares Amount Number of shares Amount
45,900,572 45901 - .
- - 45,900,572 459.01
45.900.572 439.01 45,900.572 459.01
As at As at
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Number of shares % of holding Number of shares % of holding
45,900,572 100% - -
- 45,900,572 100%
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8}

Equity (continued)

Details of Compulsorily Convertible Ci ive Preference Shares (CCCPS) held by promoters as at 31 March 2024
- o 5
S No. Promoter Name No._nl'.CCCPS at(he  Change during the No. of shares at the 9% of Total Shares % change during
beginning of the year year end of the year the year
1 ACIC Mauritius 1, till 10 August 2023 45,900,572 (45,900,572) - 0% -100.00%
2 SAMHI Hotels Limited w e £, 10 August 2023 - 45,900,572 45,900,572 100% 100.00%
45,900,572 - 45,900,572 100% 0%
Details of Compulsorily Convertible C lative Preference Shares (CCCPS) held by promaters as at 31 March 2023
= = 5
S No. Promoter Name No. oI'FCCPS atthe Change during the Na. of shares at the 9% of Total Shares % change during
b g of the year year end of the year the year
I ACIC Mauritius 1 45,900,572 - 45,900,572 100% -
45.900.572 - 45.900.572 100% -

Fully Compulsory Convertible Debentures (FCCDs) held by holding company

Name of shareholder Asat Asal
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Number of FCCDs Amount Number of FCCDs Amount
SAMHI Hotels Limited, the holding company from 10 August 2023 246,531,440 246530 - -
ACIC Maurilius 1, the holding company till 10 August 2023 - - 246,531,440 246531
246,531,440 146530 246,531,440 246531
= =
Details of shareholders holding more than 5% Fully Compulsory Convertible Debentures (FCCDs) of the Comp As at As at
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Number of FCCDs % of holding Number of FCCDs % of holding
SAMHI Hotels Limited, the holding company from 10 August 2023 246,531,440 100% - -
ACIC Mauntius I, the holding company till 10 August 2023 - - 246,531,440 100 00%

Details of Fully Cempulsory Convertible Dek es (FCCDs) held by promoters as at 31 March 2024
5 5 =
S No. Promoter Name No.hof.FCCDs at the  Change during the No. of FCCDs at the % of Total Shares % change during
beginning of the vear year end of the year the year
I ACIC Mauritius I, nil 10 August 2023 246,531,440 (246,53 1,440) - 0% -100%
2 SAMHI Hotels Limited w.e . 10 August 2023 - 246,531,440 246,531,440 100% 100%
246,531,440 - 246,531,440 100% 0%
Details of Fully C Isory Convertible Deb es (FCCDs) held by promoters as at 31 March 2023
. 5 =
S No. Promoter Name No. of FCCDs at the  Change during the No. of FCCDs at the % of Total Shares % change during
b of the year year end of the year the year
I ACIC Mauritius 1 246.531.440 - 246.531.440 100% -
246,531,440 - 246,531,440 100% -
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11  Equity (continued)
As at As at
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Fully Compulsorily Convertible Debentures (FCCD)

11,929,974 (31 March 2023 - 11,929,974) of Rs. 10 each (unsecured) (note 1) 11930 119.30
3,555,677 (31 March 2023 - 3,555,677) of Rs, 10 each (unsecured) (note 2) 3556 3556
113,054,699 (31 March 2023 - 113,054,699) of Rs. 10 each (unsecured) (note 3) 1,130 55 1,130 55
34,854,936 (31 March 2023 - 34,854,936,) of Rs. 10 each (unsecured) (note 4) 34855 348 55
9,842,495 (31 March 2023 - 9,842,495) of Rs, 10 each (unsecured) (note 5) 9842 98 42
37,140,988 (31 March 2023 - 37,140,988) of Rs. 10 each (unsecured) (note 6} 371.41 371 41
8,498,720 (31 March 2023 - 8,498,720) of Rs. 10 each (unsecured) (note 7) 8499 8499
16,667,340 (31 March 2023 - 16,667,340) of Rs 10 each (unsecured) (note 8) 166 .67 166 67
1,009,056 (31 March 2023 - 1,009,056) of Rs 10 each (unsecured) (note 8) 10.09 1009
9,977,555 (31 March 2023 - 9,977,555) of Rs. 10 each (unsecured) (note 9) 99.78 99.78

2,465.32 2.465.32

| FCCD of Rs 10 each having a coupon rate of SBI base rale plus 300 base points per annum were allotted on 3 April 2009 to DIH (Cyprus) SPV (No 3) Limited Each FCCD shall get converted into one equity
share of Rs 10 each at the ratio of 1.1 on maturity on or before 20 years from the date of issue These FCCD's do not carry any interest till the repayment of term loans from the banks and financial institution and
accordingly no interest is accrued on these FCCD's till 31 March 2024, These FCCD's were transferred by DIH (Cyprus) SPV (No 3} Limited to ACIC Mauritius 1 on 31 March 2017 and then to SAMHI Hotels
Limited on 10 August 2023 with the same terms and conditions

()

FCCD of Rs 10 each having a coupon rate of SBI base rate plus 300 base points per annum were allotted on 18 January 2012 to DIH (Cyprus) SPV (No 3) Limited, Each FCCD shall get converted into one
equity share of Rs 10 each at the ratio of 1 1 on malurity before 15 years from the date of issue. These FCCD’s do not carry any interest till the repayment of term loans from the banks and financial institution and
accordingly no interest is accrued on these FCCD's till 31 March 2024 These FCCD's were Iransferred by DIH (Cyprus) SPV (No 3) Limited to ACIC Mauritius | on 31 March 2017 and then to SAMHI Hotels
Limited on 10 August 2023 with the same terms and conditions

[

FCCD of Rs 10 each having a coupon rate of SBI base rate plus 300 base points per annum were allotted during 2014-15 and 2015-16 to Duet India Holels Pte Limited 2.1 debentures will get converted into 1
equity shares of Rs. 10 each on maturity before 15 years from the date of issue These FCCD’s do not carry any interest till the repayment of term loans from the banks and financial institution and accordingly no
interest is accrued on these FCCD's ill 31 March 2024 These FCCD's were transferred by Duet India Hotels Pte Limited to ACIC Mauritius 1 on 31 March 2017 and then to SAMHI Hotels Limited on 10
August 2023 with the same terms and conditions

4 FCCD of Rs. 10 each having a coupon rate of SBI base rate plus 300 base points per annum were allotted on 6 April 2017 to Asiya Asset Management Cayman Limited 2 | debentures will get converted into |
equity shares of Rs. 10 each on maturity before 0 years from the date of issue These FCCD's do not carry any interest till the repayment of term loans from the banks and financial institution and accordingly no
interest is accrued on these FCCD's 6ill 31 March 2024 These FCCD's were transferred by Asiya Asset Management Cayman Limited to ACIC Mauritius | on 29 December 2018 and then to SAMHI Hotels
Limited on 10 August 2023 with the same terms and conditions

5 FCCD of Rs 10 each having a coupon rate of SBI base rate plus 300 base points per annum were allotted on 4 October 2017 to Asiya Asset Management Cayman Limited. 1.9 debentures will get converted into
1 equity shares of Rs 10 each on maturity before 10 years from the date of issue. These FCCD's do not carry any interest till the repayment of term loans from the banks and financial institution and accordingly
no interest is accrued on these FCCD's till 31 March 2024 These FCCD's were transferred by Asiya Asset Management Cayman Limited to ACIC Maurilius | on 29 December 2018 and then to SAMHI Hotels
Limited on 10 August 2023 with the same terms and conditions

6 FCCD of Rs 10 each having a coupon rate of SBI base rate plus 300 base points per annum were allotted during 2017-18 to Asiya Asset Management Cayman Limited 1.9 debentures will get converted into |
equity shares of Rs 10 each on maturity before 10 years from the date of issue These FCCD’s do not carry any interest till the repayment of term loans from the banks and financial institution and accordingly no
interest is accrued on these FCCD's till 31 March 2024, These FCCD's were transferred by Asiya Asset Management Cayman Limited to ACIC Mauritius | on 29 December 2018 and then to SAMHI Hotels
Lirmiled on 10 August 2023 with the same terms and conditions.

7 FCCD of Rs. 10 each having a coupon rate of SBI base rate plus 300 base points per annum were allotted during 2017-18 to Asiya Capital Investment Company 1.9 debenlures W|II get convened into | equity
shares of Rs 10 each on maturity before 10 years from the date of issue. These FCCD’s do not carry any interest 1ill the repayment of term loans from the banks and fi ial and gly no interest
is accrued on these FCCD's till 31 March 2024, These FCCD's were transferred by Asiya Capital Investment Company to ACIC Mauritius | on 29 December 2018 and then to SAMHI Hotels Limited on 10
August 2023 with the same terms and conditions

8 FCCD ofRs. 10 each having a coupon rate of SB1 Base rate plus 300 basis points per annum were allotted during 2018-19. 1 9 debentures will get converted into 1 equity shares of Rs. 10 each on maturity before
10 years from the date of issue FCCD of Rs 10 each having a coupon rate of SBI Base rate plus 300 basis points per annum were allotted on 22 October 2018 2 1 debentures will get converted into | equity
shares of Rs 10 each on maturity on or before 30 Seprember 2028 These FCCD’s do not carry any interest till the repayment of term loans from the banks and financial institution and accordingly no interest is
accrued on these FCCD's (ill 31 March 2024 These FCCD's were transferred to SAMHI Hotels Limited on 10 August 2023 with the same terms and conditions

% FCCD of Rs 10 each having a coupon rate of SBI Base rate plus 300 basis points per annum were allotted on 25 April 2019 22 debenlures will get converted into | equity shares of Rs 10 each on maturity on or
before 31 March 2029 These FCCD's do not carry any interest till the repayment of term loans from the banks and fi ial insti and dingly no interest is accrued on these FCCD's till 31 March 2024
These FCCD's were transferred to SAMHI Hotels Limited on 10 August 2023 with the same terms and conditions
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Equity (continued)

1I(c) Other equity

Equity of Cumulatinve Red ble Non-Convertible Preltrence Shares (CRNPS)
Equily of Fully Computsonly Conyertible Deby (Fceoy
Sccurilies premum

Distribution (o fellow subsidianes on behalf of the parent company
Capilal contnbution on behall of parent company

Amalgamalion adjustment defieit account

Retaned earnings

a) Equity component of Cumulatis e Redeemable Non-Cony ertible Preference Shares (CRNPS)

Issued, subscribed and paid up Share Capital
Nl (31 March 2023 - 5,551.980) Cumulau ¢ Redeemable Non-Convertible Preference Shares (CRNPS) of Rs 10 cach

Rights, preferences and restrictions attached to Cumulative Redecmable Non-Cony ertible Preference Shares (CRNPS)

As at Asat
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
4837 4837
23912 465 39
96375 96375
(346 17) (344 64)
34001 24541
(1364)
(2,884 2d) (2,921 26)
(1,652.80) (1,542.78)
Asat Asat

31 March 2024 31 March 2023

4837 4837
48.37 48.37
—

Dividend ‘4 1% over the annual US Wall Street Journal Pnme Rate on the ace value due and payable on matunty or redemption These shares are redeemable at par within a peniod of' 3 years (rom the date of 1ssuc or Iading that on account of
nsulTiciency of prolil, as soon as possible thercaller, subject to maximum 20 vears [rom the date of issue as the maximum term allowed under the law Dunng the vear ended 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2023 the Company has not declared any:

divdend 1o preference sharcholders Dunng the current year, these CRNPS have been lully redecmed

of Cumulati Non-Convertible Preference Shares (CRNPS) outstanding at the beginning and a( the end of the reporting year
As at As at
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Number of shares Amount Number of shares Amount
Equity of Ct le Non-Con criible Prefercnce Shares (CRNPS) of Rx.10 each
Balance as at the beginning/end of the year 4837 5,351,980 4837
Cumulative Redcemable Non-Cony ertible Preference Shares (CRNPS) held by holding company
Name of sharchalder Asat Asal
31 March 2024
Number of shares Amount Number of shares Amount
Cumulative Redeemable Non-Cony ertible Prefercnee Shares (CRNPS) of Rs. 10 each held by
ACIC Maunties 1, the holdimg company ull 10 August 2023 4837 5.551.980 4837
18.37 5,551.980 1837
Details of shareholders holding more than 5% Cumulative Redeemable Non-Convertible Preference Shares (CRNPS) of the Company
Asat Asat
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Number of shares % of holding, Number of shares % of holding
Cumulative Redeemable Non-Convertible Preference Shares (CRNPS) of Rs. 10 cach held by
ACIC Maunus 1, the holding company 1il} 10 August 2023 0% 5551.980 100%
- ki) 3551980 He
of C lati Non-Conierlible Preference Shares (CRNPS) at the beginning and at end of the year
For the year ended For the year ended
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Number of shares Amount Number of shares Amount
Cumulative Redeemable Non-Convertible Preference Shares (CRNPS)
Atthe beginming of the vear 5,551,980 48 37 5551980 4837
Less Redeemed duning the year (5.551.980) - - -
At the end of the year - 48_.37 5,551,980 48.37
Details of C Non-Con ertible Preference Shares (CRNPS) held by promoters as at 31 March 2024
$ No. Promoter Name N .nl' ?CCPS al the Change during the  No. of shares at the % of Total Shares % chang'e during
beginning of the year year end of the year the ycar
1 ACIC Mauntius | 5,551 980 (5,551.980) - 0% (L0
SSSLIM (55515400 - 0% (1)
Details of C lati Non-Convertible Prefel Shares (CRNPS) held by 1 ay at 31 March 2023
S No. Promoter Name No.'nr 'CCCPS at the Change duringthe  No. of shares at the % of Total Shares % change during
beginning of the year year end of the year the year
1 ACIC Mauntius 1 3351980 5.551.40 (51
SSS1.980 - S551.000 100%
Dunng the current year ended 31 March 2024, these NCCRPS were translerred to SAMI T T lotels Limited on 10 August 2023 Further, these NCCRPS were lully redecemed i March 2024
Asat As at
b) Equi of Fully C ily C ible Deb (FCCDs) 31 March 2024 31 March 2023
3alance at the beginming of the year 465 59 46539
Conversion dunng the scar (226 47) -
Bulance at the year end 2_39.12 46-5‘
During the current veur ended 31 March 2024, these FCCDs were transferred o SAMLI [otels Limited on 10 August 2023 Further these FCCDs were fully converted m March 2024
) Securitics premium Asatl Asut
3§ March 2024 31 March 2023
Dalance at 1he beginning of the vear 963 75 963 75
Add - Addiuons made dunng the vear . -
Balance at the end of the yeur 963.75 963.75

Secuntes premwm 13 used (o record (he premium receved on issue of shares [ utlduzed in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013
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~

Equity (conlinued)

d) Distribution to fellow subsidiarics on behalf of the parent company As at Asat

31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Balance at the beginning of the ycar (344 64) (359 89)
Addional contribution durme the year (30 53) (1575)
Repayment during the year 2900 3100
Balance at the end of the year (346.17) (3H.64)

“The company had gven inter-corporate loans to us [ellow subsidiary companies Since, these loans are mierest ree Joans and also repayable al the oplion of the borrower and henee, Joans given to fellow subsidianes has been recopmeed as a
distribution to fellow subsidiancs on behalf of the parent company

Asat Asat
¢) Capilal contribution en behalf of parent company 31 March 2024 31 March 2023
I3alance al the begimmng of the vear 24541 2462]
Addwonal contnbution dunng the year 12238 -
Repayment during the year £27 THY 1080
Balance at the year end ]-lﬂl 245,41

The Company had abtained wnter-curporate louns rom its fellow subsidianes Smce. these loans ane interest free loans and akso repayable at the option of the horrower, hence these loans have been recognized as a capital contnbution on behall of
the parent company

1) Retained carnings As al Asat

31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Balance at the beginming of the sear (2921 26) (2699 37)
Prolit/(loss) for the vear 4119 (22273)
Acquisibon duning the vear (Refer 1o note 30) (544 -
Other adjustment . 076
Iransfer from other comprehensie income 1 27 008
Ralance at the end of the vear (2,884.24) (2,921.26)
£) Other comprehensiy ¢ income Asat Asat

31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Belance al the begmning of the year N
Remeasurements of delined benef(it hability (net ol ax) 127 008
Trapsferrad to retamead carmings [{)) (0 08)

Balance at the end ol the vear

Remeasurements of defined benefit liabiliy compnses actuarial gains and losses

h) Equity T of Fully C ily Convertible Deb: {FCCDs) Asat Asal
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
N (31 March 2023 - 47,475,507) of Rs 10 cach (unsecured) (Reler to note | below) 23830 464 77
Nil (31 March 2023 - 83,287) ol Rs 10 cach (unsecured) (Refer Lo nole 2 below) 082 082
239.12 465.59
i) Amalgamation adjustment deficit account As at Asat
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Balance at the beginning of the year - -
Acquisition duning the year (Refer Lo note 30) (1364)
Balance at the yeur end (13.,64)
Fully C y Convertible Deb, (FCCDs) held by holding company Asut Asat
31 March 2024
Number Amount Number Amount
ACIC Maunuus |, the holding company Wl 10 August 2023 - . 47559494 465 59
- - 47559494 465.59
Details of sharchelders holding more than 5% Fully C v Convertible Deb (FCCDs) of the Company As at As at
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Number % of holding, Number % of holding
ACIC Mauriaius 1, the holding company ull 10 August 2023 - - 47,559 494 100%
- 47559494 I
=

Details of Fully Compubwsry Convertible Debentures (FCCDs) held by promoters as at 31 Murch 2024

S Nn Prometer Name Mo, of CCCPS at the Change during the  Now of shares al the %% of Total Shares e change during
beginning of the year Jear endl ol year the year
1 ACIC Maunuws 1. ull 10 August 2023 47 559494 (47 359 494y - 0% -100%
2 SAMIII [otels Limited (Refer o notes | and 2 below) w ¢ [ 10 August 2023 - - - 100% 100%
47359494 (475594941 - %%
Sdxicn B
Detaibs of Fully Compubwry Convertible Debentures (FCCDs) held by promoters as at 31 March 2023
No. of CCCPS at the Change during the  No. of shares at the % change during
EhL FromoteaName beginning of the year Acar ol of the yeur Aofjfoial Shares the sear
1 ACIC Mauntius | 735940 - 47339494 [T -
47.559.494 - 47,559,494 110% -
= = —

Notes

FFCCD ol Rs 10 cach having a coupoen rate of S131 base rale plus 300 base pomnls per annum were allotted dunng 2016-17 o Duct India Tolels Ple Limited Jach debenture holder will get | equiiy share of Rs 10 cach i place of 2 | debentures
on matunty before 15 vears [rom the date ol issue These FCCD s do not carry any aterest ull the repayment of term loans from the bank s and financial msttution and accordimgly no interest 1> acerued on these FCCD's ull 31 March 2023 These
FCCDY's were translerred by Duet India [olels Ple Luimited o ACIC Maunitius 1 on 31 March 2017 and then to SAMIII Hotels Lumited on 10 August 2023 | urther, these FCCDs have been conserted into equity shares m March 2024

FCCD of Rs 10 cach having a coupon rate ol SBI base rate plus 300 base paints per annum were allotied on 3 Apnl 2017 10 Duet India Hotels Pre Limited 1izch debenture holder will get 1 equuty share of Rs 10 cach m pluce of 2 | debentures
on matunty before 13 veurs lrom the date of issue These FCCI's do not carry any interest kll the repayment of term loans Irom the banks and (inancial instinulion and accordingly no inlerest 1s acerued on thes CI>sull 31 March 2023 These
FFCCD's were transierred by Duet [ndia Holels Pre Limiled to ACIC Mauntws | on t7 Apnl 2019 and then 1o SAMII Holels Limited on 10 August 2023 Further, these FCCDs have been comyerted snto equity shares in March 2021
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Duet India Hotels (Pune) Private Limited
CIN:U55101HR2006PTC046766

Notes to the linancial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024

(All amounis are in INR (millions), unless othervise stated)

13

14

Non current provisions

Provision for employee benefits
Gratuity (Refer to note 20)

Compensated absences (Refer to note 20)

Financial liabilities - Current

14(a) Current financial liabilities - Borrowings

Overdraft facilities from bank (secured) *
Current maturities of long-term borrowings (Refer to note 12)

(Unsecured)

[niercorporate borrowings from other parties (Refer Lo note 26B)

As at
31 March 2024

As at
31 March 2023

1.61 284
331 2.29
4.92 5.13

As at
31 March 2024

As at
31 March 2023

- 2576
912 267
17.50 1750
26.62 45.93

*QOverdraft facility from banks

Particulars

Sanctioned Amount
(INR Millions)

Interest rate charged per annum

As at 31 March 2024

As at 31 March 2023

Repayment Terms

Security details

Indusind Bank Limited

3000

NA

9.30%

Repayable on demand

Same as mentioned in note 12

14(b) Current financial liabilities - Trade payables

14(c)

Trade payables

As at
31 March 2024

As at
31 March 2023

- total outstanding dues of micro enterprises and small enterprises (MSME) 1.09 247
- total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro enterprises and small enterprises 50.75 94 85
51.84 97.32
Trade payables ageing schedule
As at 31 March 2024
o] ding for following period from due date of transaction
Particulars Accrued Expenses Less than 1 year 1-2 years 2-3 years More than 3 years Total
(1) MSME - 1.09 - - - 1.09
(i1} Others 16.37 31.04 1.36 0.16 1.82 50.75
Total 16.37 32.13 1.36 0.16 1.82 51.84
As at 31 March 2023
Outstanding for following period from due date of transaction
Particulars Accrued Exp Less than 1 year 1-2 years 2-3 years More than 3 years Total

() MSME - 247 - - 247
{ii) Others 33 87 53 02 257 127 412 94.85
Total 33.87 55.49 2.57 1.27 4,12 97.32
(a) Refer to note 32 for disclosures under Micro, Small and Medium Enlerprises Development Act, 2006 (MSMED)
{b) Refer Lo note 28 for related party balances
(c) The Company's exposure to currency and liquidity risks related to trade payables is disclosed in note 29
(d) There are no disputed trade payables as at 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2023
Current financial liabilities - Others As at Asat

Employee related payables

Interest accrued but not due on borrowings *

Payable for capital assets

Advarice received for sale of investment
Security deposit received

Other payables (Refer to note 30)

31 March 2024

31 March 2023

973 154
- 1452
240 200
- 4257
004 -
12.7] -
24.88 70.63

* During the previous year, pursuant to a joint agreement among Duet India Hotels (Pune) Private Limited, Duet India Hotels (Mumbai) Private Limited, Duel India Hotels (Bangalore) Private
Limited & Duet India Hotels (Navi Mumbai) Private Limited, the tnterest payable of INR 24 73 to Duet India Hotels (Mumbai) Private Limited was assigned as payable to Duel India Hotels
(Bangalore) Private Limiled and Duet India Hotels (Navi Mumbai) Private Limited with the consent of all the parties involved

Other current liabilities

Advance from customers
Statutory dues payable
Current provisions

Provision for employee benefits
: {er to nole 20)

As at
31 March 2024

As at
31 March 2023

497 662
682 395
11.79 10.57

As at
31 March 2024

As at
31 March 2023

107 057
| 90 044
2.97 1.01




Duet India Hotels (Pune) Private Limited
CIN:U55101HR2006PTC046766

Notes to the inancial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024

(All amounts are in INR (millions), unless othenvise siated)
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19

20

Revenue lrom operations

Sale of services

- Room revenue

- Food and beverage revenue

- Liquor and wine

- Recreation and other services

For the year ended
31 March 2024

For the year ended
31 March 2023

384.83 36961
127.80 13400
16.02 1962
23.73 2332
552.38 546.55

The contract liabilities primarily relate to the advance consideration received from customers for which revenue is recognized when the performance obligation is over/ services delivered. Advance
collection is recognised when payment is received before the related performance obligation is satisfied This includes advances received from the towards rooms/ /b
Revenue is recognised once the performance obligation is met i.e. on room stay/ sale of food and beverage / provision of banquet services

Excess of revenue over invoicing is recorded as unbilled revenue

Contract Liabilities

As at
31 March 2024

As at
31 March 2023

- Advance from customers 497 662
The amount of revenue INR 6.18 (31 March 2023 INR 2.65) recognised in the reporting period was included in the advance from cuslomers balance at the beginning of the period
Trade receivables 3279 7729
Note: Considering the nature of business of the Company, the above trade receivables is converted into cash within the same operating cycle
Other income For the year ended For the year ended

Interest income from financial assets at amortised cost

31 March 2024

31 March 2023

- on bank deposits 1971 239
- on loan to subsidiaries 062 -
Govermnment grant income 493 -
Provisions/ liabilities no longer required written back 5.64 4.46
Gain on settlement of financial liability 23 06 -
Miscellaneous income - 031
Gain on foreign exchange fluctuation (net) 078 -
54.74 7.16
Cost of materials consumed For the year ended For the year ended

Consumption of food and beverages

31 March 2024

31 March 2023

Inventory at the beginning of the year 362 272
Add : Purchases during the year 3779 4412
Inventory at the end of the year (2.02) (3.62)

39.39 43.22
Employee benefits expense For the year ended For the year ended

31 March 2024 31 March 2023

Salaries, wages and bonus 7465 6568
Contribution to provident fund and other funds (Refer ‘a' below) 359 272
Compensated absences (Refer 'b' below) 302 105
Staff welfare expenses 1522 1476

96.48 i-lé

a. Defined contribution plans

The Company makes contributions, determined as a specified percentage of employee salaries, in respect of qualifying employees towards Provident Fund, Labour Welfare Fund and Employees' State
Insurance, which are defined contribution plans The Company has no obligations other than to make the specified contributions The contributions are charged to profit or loss as they accrue The
amount recognised as an expense towards contribution to Provident Fund, Labour Welfare Fund and Employees' State Insurance for the year aggregated to INR 3 59 (31 March 2023 - [NR 2.72)

b. Compensated absences

The principal assumptions used in determining the compensated absences benefit obligation are as given below:

As at As at
Particulars 31 March 2024 31 March 2023
% %
Discounting rate p a 15 739
Salary growth rate pa 10.00 10.00




Duet India Hotels (Pune) Private Limited
CIN:U55101HR2006PTC046766
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024
(All amounts are in INR (millions), unless othenvise stated)

20 Employee benefits expense (continued)

c. Defined Benefit Plan

Graluity

The Company has a defined benefit gratuity plan, Every employee who has completed five years or more of service gets a gratuity on departure at 15 days salary (last drawn salary) for each

completed year of service as per Payment of Gratuity Act, 1972. The scheme is not funded

These plans typically expose the Company to actuarial risks such as' investment risk, inherent interest rate risk , longevity risk and salary risk

Investment risk

The present value of the defined benefit plan liability (denominated in Indian Rupee) is calculated using a discount rate which is determined by reference to market yields at the end of the reporting

period on government bonds

Interest rate risk

The defined benefit obligation calculated uses a discount rate based on government bonds. If bond yields fall, the defined benefit obligation will tend to increase

Longevity risk

The present value of the defined benefit plan liability is calculated by reference to the best estimate of the mortality of plan participants both during and after their employment. An increase in the life

expectancy of the plan participants will increase the plan's liability

Salary risk

Higher than expected increases in salary will increase the defined benefit obligation

The following tables summaries the components of net benefit expense recognized in profit or loss and amounts recognized in the Balance Sheet for the said plan:

a) Expense recognised in Statement of Profit and Loss

Particulars
Currenl service cost
Interest cost

Total exp T ised in the S of Profit and Loss

b) Remeasurements recognized directly in other comprehensive income

Particulars

Net actuarial gain/(loss) recognized in the year
h d hi ptions

- in
~ch e ol
- changes in experience adjustments

Amount recognized in other comprehensive income

¢) Change in present value of benefit obligation

Particulars

Present value of obligation as at the beginning of the year
Current service cost

Interest cost

Actuarial (gain)/loss

Benefits paid

Present value of obligation as at the end of the year

d) A ts to be ri ized in Bal. Sheet

Particulars

Present value of the defined benefit obligation at the end of the year

Fair value of plan assets at the end of the year
Funded status
Net liability recognized in the Balance Sheet

Non-current
Current

¢) The principal assumptions used in determining the gratuity benefit obligation are as given below

Particulars

Discounting rate p a. (i)
Salary growth rale p 2 (ii)

For the year ended
31 March 2024

For the year ended
31 March 2023

045 0.78
0.25 027
0.70 1.0

For the year ended
31 March 2024

For the year ended
31 March 2023

(1.03) R
005 -
(029) (011)
(127) (0.11)
For the year ended For the year ended
31 March 2024 31 March 2023

341 369
045 078
025 027
(1.28) ©11)
(0.15) (122)
2.68 3.41

As at
31 March 2024

As at
31 March 2023

(i) The discount rate 1s generally based upon the market yields available on Government bonds at the accounting date with a term that matches that of the liabilities

(i1) The salary growth rate takes account of inflation, seniorty, promotion and other relevant factors on long term basis

Demographic assumptions

Retirement Age (years)
Mortality Table

Withdrawal Rate
Ages

Up to 30 Years
From 31 to 44 years
Above 44 years

f) The Company besl estimate of expense for the next year is INR 0 51 (31 March 2023 - INR 1 31)

& Co
=
® ¢
o) x o

+

268 341
(2.68) (3.41)
(2.68) (3.41)
1.61 284
1.07 057
As at As at
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
% %
715 739
10.00 1000
As at As at

31 March 2024

60
100% of IALM
(2012-14)
%

74
74
74

31 March 2023

60
100% of IALM
(2012-14)
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024
(All amounts are in INR (millions), unless otherwise stated)

20

| benef:
E yee

|

expense (¢ inued)

Sensitivity analysis

Reasonably possible changes at the reporting date to one of the relevant actuarial assumptions, holding other assumptions constant, would have affected the defined benefit
obligation by the amounts shown below.

31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Increase * Decrease * Increase * Decrease *
Discount rate (0.5% movement) (0.02) 0.02 (0.08) 0.09
Salary growth rate (0.5% movement) 002 (0.02) 0.08 (0.08)

Although the analysis does not take account of the full distribution of cash flows expected under the plan, it does provide an approximation of the sensitivity of the
assumptions shown.

* Positive amount represents increase in provision
*Negative amount represents decrease in provision

Weighted average duration of defined benefit obligation is 1.09 years (31 March 2023: 5.46 years)
Sensitivity changes due to withdrawal and mortality are not material and hence not disclosed.

There was no change in the method and assumptions used in preparing the sensitivity analysis from prior years.

g) Maturity profile of defined benefit obligation As at As at
31 March 2024 31 March 2023

Year
0-1 year 1.07 0.57
1-2 year 1.11 0.43
2-3 year 0.30 0.37
3-4 year 0.08 034
4-5 year 0.02 0.28
5-6 year 0.00 0.25
More than 6 year 0.10 0.67

2.68 3.41
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024
(All amounts are in INR (millions), unless otherwise stated)

21  Finance costs For the year ended For the year ended
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Interest expense on financial liabilities carried at amortised cost
- Fully Compulsorily Convertible Debentures ("FCCDs") 247 221
- Non-Convertible Cumulative Redeemable Preference Shares ("NCCRPs") 523 4.83
- Loans from bank 85.94 113.84
Other finance costs 3.39 9.08
97.03 129.96
22 Depreciation and amortisation expense For the year ended For the year ended
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (Refer to note 3) 4145 43.67
Amortisation of intangible assets (Refer to note 4) 0.26 0.46
41.71 44.13
23 Other expenses For the year ended For the year ended
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Repair and maintenance
- Building 1.86 2.05
- Machinery 12.19 9.18
- Others 2.46 5.89
Brand, license and marketing fees 62.32 53.86
Communication 2.40 252
Consumption of stores and supplies 3144 2521
Contractual labour 17.44 16.16
Security services 2.50 289
Equipment hire 11.79 9.64
Advance written off - 0.15
Printing and stationery 243 1.77
Insurance 2.71 284
Legal and professional fees 11.16 25.63
Loss on foreign exchange fluctuation (net) - 0.81
Management and incentive fees 24.50 9.00
Payment to auditors * 183 8.92
Power, fuel and water 56.62 68.02
Provision for bad and doubtful debts 5.55 328
Rates and taxes 21.65 19.98
Travelling and conveyance 11.44 8.44
Loss on settlement of financial liability 4.18 -
Miscellaneous expenses # 4.85 2.79
291.32 279.03
*Payment to auditors (excluding taxes)
Statutory audit 1.62 431
Reimbursement of expenses 0.16 0.08
Other services 0.05 4.53
1.83 8.92
# net of reversal of provision for deemed investment in form of loans given to subsidiaries amounting to INR 2.60 (31 March 2023 - INR Nil)
24 Provision for impairment of non-current investments
For the year ended For the year ended
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Impairment loss on investment in subsidiary - 195.92
- 195.92
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CIN:U55101HR2006PTC046766

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024
(All amounts are in INR (millions), unless otherwise stated)

25

Earnings/(loss) per share (EPS)

Basic EPS is calculated by dividing the loss for the year attributable to equity shareholders by the weighted average number of equity shares outstanding during the year,
Diluted EPS is calculated by dividing the loss for the year attributable to the equity shareholders by weighted average number of equity shares outstanding during the year plus

the weighted average number of equity shares that would be issued on conversion of all the dilutive potential equity shares into equity shares.

For the year ended
31 March 2024

For the year ended
31 March 2023

Net profit/(loss) attributable to equity shareholders 4119 (222.73)
Interest expene on full compulsorily convertible debentures* 2.47 -
Net profit/(loss) attributable to equity shareholders (diluted) 38.72 (222.73)
Weighted average number of equity shares outstanding during the year for calculation of basic EPS 215,687,567 215,611,720
Weighted average number of equity shares outstanding during the year for calculation of diluted EPS 215,687,567 215,611,720
Nominal value of equity share (INR) 10 10
Basic earnings/(losses) per share (INR) 0.19 (1.03)
Diluted earnings/(losses) per share (INR) 0.19 (1.03)

For the year ended
31 March 2024

For the year ended
31 March 2023

Reconciliation of net profit/(loss) attributable to equity shareholders (basic earnings per share)
Net profit/(loss) after tax as per Statement of profit and loss 41.19

(222.73)

Net profit/(loss) attributable to equity shareholders 41.19

(222.73)

Calculation of weighted average number of shares for basic and diluted earnings per share for the year ended 31 March 2024

Number Weighted Average
Equity Shares 23,707,741 18,231,608
Instruments entirely equity in nature
Compulsorily Convertible Cumulative Preference Shares 45,900,572 45,900,572
Fully compulsory convertible debentures 151,555,387 151,555,387
221,163,700 215,687,567
Calculation of weighted average of shares for basic and diluted earnings per share for the year ended 31 March 2023
Number Weighted Average
Equity Shares 18,155,761 18,155,761
Instruments entirely equity in nature
Compulsorily Convertible Curnulative Preference Shares 45,900,572 45,900,572
Fully compulsory convertible debentures 151,555,387 151,555,387
215,611,720 215,611,720

* In the previous year, the conversion of fully compulsory convertible debentures will have an anti diluted effect on earnings per share and hence the same has been ignored

while computing diluted earnings per share,
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26A Contingent liabilities and commitments

26B

27

(to the extent not provided for)
As at As at
31 March 2024 31 March 2023

Commitments
Estimated amount of contracts remaining to be executed on capital account and others, and = s
not provided for

Contingent liabilities

(i). During 2009-10, the Company had acquired land, which has carrying value of INR 413.00 as at year end. At the acquisition, the
management had noted certain old disputes pertaining to the said land involving its sellers and certain third parties, ongoing from earlier years
(ranging from 1996 to 2005) and basis legal assessment had concluded that these would not impact the Company's title and consequently got
the title deed registered in Company's name since April 6, 2009,

There has been no development on these old disputes since then. The management, based on legal assessment, believes that the title of the
Company's land is not impacted with these disputes and no liability is likely to devolve upon the Company in this regard.

(ii). During the year, the Company has received a draft order from Department of Goods and Service Tax, State of Maharashtra for financial
year 2017-18 claiming that the Company has short paid its liability under Reverse Charge Mechanism amounting to INR 1.26 and has claimed
excess input credit amounting to INR 0.66. The Company is waiting for final order from the department before it submits its response with the
department. Based on internal assessment, the management believes that it is unlikely that any liability will devolve upon the Company.

(iii). The Company received a penalty order u/s 271(1)(c) for an amount of INR 2.00 for financial year 2014-15. The Company has filed
appeal against the same before the Commissioner of Income-tax (Appeals) which is pending for disposal.

The Company had received a demand letter for recovery of debt payable of INR 17.50 from the Insolvency Resolution Professional of
Ramprastha Sare Realty Private Limited in the earlier years. The Company had filed its response against the demand letter and there has been
no further update on this matter since then. Based on the internal evaluation , the management of the Company believes that no further liability
is expected to be incurred in this regard.

Operating Segments

The Holding Company's Chief Executive Officer has been identified as the Chief Operating Decision Maker (‘CODM') w.e.f 10 August 2023,
since he is responsible for all major decisions w.r.t. the preparation and execution of business plan, preparation of budget, planning, alliance,
merger, acquisition and expansion of any new facility. Till [0 August 2023, the Directors were identified as CODM. CODM has examined the
Company's performance from product and geographic perspective and has identified a single business segment i.e. "Developing and running
of hotels", hence no specific disclosures have been made.

A. Information about products and services
The Company primarily deals in one business namely "Developing and running of hotels”, therefore product wise revenue disclosure is not

B. Information about geographical areas
The Company provides services to customers in India. Further, there are no non-current assets located outside India.

C. Information about major customers (from external customers)
The Company does not derive revenue from one customer which would amount to 10 per cent or more of the entity’s revenue.
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28 Related party disclosures

a) Related party and nature of related party relationship where control exists

Deseription of relatianship

[Name of the Party

Ultimate holding company

Holding eompam.

|Asiva Capital Investments Company., K.S.C P (il 10 August 2023)

Holding company

|S.r\:\!l'|l Hotels Limited (w e f 10 August 2023)
ACIC Mauritius 1 {till 10 August 2023)

Entinv under common control

ACIC Mauritius 2 (till 10 August 2023}

b) Other related parties with whom transactions have taken place

Deseription of relationship

Name of the Party

Fellow Subsidiary

Fellow Subsidiany

Fellow Subsidiany

Fellow Subsidiary

Duct India Hotels (Hyvderabad) Private Limited

Fellow Subsidiary

Fellow Subsidiar

Felleow Subsidiary

ACIC Advisory Private Limited

Duct India Hotels (Ahmedabad) Prvate Limited
Duct India Hotels (Chennat OMR) Private Limited
Druct India Hotels (Chennai) Private Limited

Duet Indis Hotels (Navi Mumbai) Private Limited
Duet India Hotcls {Banealore) Private Limited

Subsidian
|Suhmdlnn

¢} Related party transactions during the current year/previous year

Duct JKM Indin Hotels (indore) Private Limited (ull 9 August 2023)
Dhuct India Hotels (Jaipur) Private Limited

Particulars

Holding Company

Subsidiary / Fe

llow Subsidiary

31 March 2024 31 March 2023

31 March 2024

31 March 2023

Management fees expenses

ACIC Advisony Private Limited

900

Legal and Professional fees

ACIC Advisory Private Limitcd

470

Rental Income

Duct India Hotcls (Banealore) Privatc Limited

0.90

Purchases of restaurant business

Duct India Hotcls (Bangalore) Private Limited

1338

issuance of equity share {right issuc}

SAMHI Hotels Limited

w
b
w
)

Issuance of equity share {(conversion of Fully Compulsorily Convertible Debentures (FCCDs))

SAMHI Hotels Limited

226 47 -

Redemption of Cumulative Redeemable Non-Convertible Preference Shares (CRNPS)

SAMHI Hotcls Limited

w
o
w
[N}

Conversion of Fully Compulsorily Convertible Debentures (FCCDs}

LSAMHI Hotels Limited

226 47

Investment in the form of loan (Deemed investment) (repayment)

Duct JKM India Hotcls (Indorc) Private Limited

2.60

Capital contribution on behalf of parent company (taken)
Duct India Hotels (Navi Mumbai) Private Limitcd

12238

Capital contribution on behall of parent company (repayment)

Duct India Hotels (Navi Mumbai) Privatc Limitcd

2778

0.0

Repayment of short-term borrowings

Duct India Hotcls (Bangalore) Private Limited

0.40

Distribution to fellow subsidiaries on behalf of the parent company (given)

Duct India Hotels (Chennai) Private Limited

150

Duct India Hotels (Hyderabad) Private Limited

1200

Duct India Hotels (Ahmedabad) Private Limited

400

Duct India Hotels (Chennai OMR) Privatc Limited

t4 25

Duct JKM India Hotcls (Indare) Private Limited

220

Deemed Investment in form of Joans given to subsidisrics (taken)

Duct India Hotels (Jaipur) Privatc Limited

300

Deemed Investment in form of loans given to subsidiaries (repayment)

Duct India Hotels (Jaipur) Privatc Limited

Distribution ta lellow subsidiaries on behalf of the parent campany (repavment)

Duct India Hotels (Chennai) Private Limited

24 90

Duct India Hotels (Hyvderabad) Private Limited

43 00

Duct India Hotels (Ahmedabad) Private Limited

4.00

Current financial assets - Loans given to related parties

SAMH! Hotels Limited

Duct India Hotels {Chennai OMR) Private Limited

90.00

Duct India Hotels {Chennai) Private Limited

Reimbursement of expenses paid

SAMHI Hotels Limited

1.h6

Reimbursement of expenses received

|SAMHI Hotels Limitcd

w
v}

473

1A, -
NN 024

AR
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28 Related party disclosures (continued)

d) Related party balances as at year end

Particulars Holding Company Subsidiary / Fellow Subsidiary
31 March 2024 31 March 2023 31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Instruments entirely equity in nature (Compulsorily Convertible Cumulative Preference Shares (CCCPS))
ACIC Mauritius | - 45901 - -
SAMHI Hotcls Limitcd 439.01 = = 2

Instruments entirely equity in nature (Cumulative Redeemable NonConvertible Preference Shares (CRNPS)
ACIC Mauritius 1 - 48 37 - -

SAMHI Hotels Limited 48 37 - . -

Instruments entirely equity in nature (Fullv Compulsory Convertible Debentures (FCCDs))

ACIC Mauritius 1 - 2.465 32 = =
SAMHI Hotcls Limited 2.465.32 - - -
Eguity component of Fully Compulsory Convertible Debentures (FCCDs))

ACIC Mauritius | - 46339 - -
SAMHI Hotcls Limited 239.12 = = -

Debt component of Fully Compulsory Convertible Debentures (FCCDs))
ACIC Mauritius 1 - 2060 - -

Investment in the form of loan {Deemed investment)

Duct India Hotcls (Jaipur) Private Limited - - 24.01 24 01
Duct JKM India Hotcls (Indorc) Privatc Limited - - - 2,60
Distribution to fellow subsidiaries on behalf of the parent company (given)

Duct India Hotcls {Ahmedabad) Private Limited . - 21984 21584
Duct [ndia Hotcls (Chennai) Private Limitcd - - 60.56 60.56
Duct India Hotcls (Hy dcrabad) Private Limited - - 1.88 6.85
Duct India Hotcls (Chennai OMR) Privatc Limited - - 63 88 6139

Current financial assets - Lonns given to related parties*

SAMHI Hotcls Limited 90 22 - - =
Duct India Hotels (Chcnnai) Private Limited - - 374 -
Duct India Hotcls {Chennai OMR) Private Limited - - 210 -

Capital contribution on behall of parent company
Duet India Hotels (Navi Mumbai) Private Limitcd - - 11761 2301

Duet India Hotels (Banpalore) Private Limited - - 222 40 222,40

Trade payables
Duct India Hotels (B: I Privatc Limited - - - 230

Other payables
Duct India Hotels (Hyvderabad) Private Limited - - 367 -

Duct India Hotels {Bangalore) Private Limited - - 1271

Trade payable (unbilled dues)
ACIC Advisory Pnvate Limited - - - 237

Advances to suppliers
ACIC Advisorv Privatc Limited - - 1.29 -

Other current liabilities

Interest accrued on intercorporate loan

Duct India Hotels (Navi Mumbai) Private Limited - - - 1452
Trade reccivables
SAMHI Hotels Limited 013 = - =

Other receivables
Duct India Hotcls {Chennai) Private Limited - = 115 -

Non-current investments

Investment in equity shares

Duct India Hotels (Jaipur) Privatc Limited - - 6113 6113
Duct JKM India Hotels (Indore) Private Limited - - - 363 82

Investment in preference shares

Duct India Hotels (Jaipur) Private Limited - - 17918 17918
Duet India Hotels (Hyderabad) Private Limited - - 440 18 440 18
Duct JKM India Hotcls {Indorc) Private Limited - = - R128

Investment in debentures
Duct India Hotels (Jaipur) Pavate Limited - - 13873 138 73

*Short term loans and advances includes accrued intercst receivable

As at 31 March 2023. Asiya Capital Investments Company . Kuwait (the Ultimate Holding company till 10 August 2023). has given corporate guaranice to the lenders of the Company against a borrowing facility taken
by the Company and its fellow subsidiany companies The maximum exposure of the ultimate holding company is Rs 250

In addition to the transactions mentioned above:
a) There is a sccurity by way of cross collateralisation of cash flows offerred by the Company in respect of borrowings d by its fellow subsidianics from banks
b) The company has provided fixed deposit for an aggregate amount of INR 250 00 (plus capitalized intcrest) to IndusInd Bank as licn

b
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29  Financial instruments — Fair values and risk management

A) Financial instruments by category and fair value

The below table izcs the j and csli made in di ining Lhe fair valucs of the financial i that arc (a) d and d at (air valuc and (b) measurced at amortiscd cosl and for which fair values
are disclosed in the financial statements, To provide an indication aboul the reliabiliy of the inputs used in determining fair value. the Company has classified its financial instruments into the three levels prescribed under the
accounting standard

31 March 2024

Particulars Level of Ricrarchy Fair Value Through Fair Valuc Through Other Amortised Cost
Profit and Loss (FYTPL) Comprehensive Income
(FVTOCH
Financial assets
Current financial assecls - Trade receivables - - 3279
Current financial assets - Cash and cash cquivalents - - 2708
Current financial assels - Other bank balances =
financial assels - Loans 98 06
financial asscts - Others - . 32941
Iny cstments in subsidiarics 379.04
Other iny estments H018
Total financial asseis - - SHSAN
Financial liabilitics
Non-current financial liabilitics - Borrowngs - - R74.63
Curreny (inancial liabilitics - Bomowings - - 26.62
Current financial liabilishes - Trade pavables - - SLRd
Current financial liabilitics - Cibers - - 24.88
Total fnanciul labilities - - 977.97

31 March 2023

Particulars Level of Hicrarchy Fair Value Through Fair Value Through Other Amortised Cost
Profit and Loss (FVTPL) Comprchensive Income
(FVTOCH
Financial assets
Current financial asscls - Trade reccivables - - 7729
Current financial assets - Cash and cash cquivalents . - 60.38
Current financial assels - Other hank halances 5084
financial asscls - Loans 803
financial asscls - Others - . 1429
Imvesunents in subsidiaries 63321
Other i cstments J411 1%
Tolal financial asscts - - 1.284.22
Financial liabilitics
Non-current [inancial liabilines - Borovwangs - - 942,47
Current financial liabilitics - Borrowings . . 4593
Current financinl labilities - Trade pmvables - - 9732
Current financial liabilitics - Others - . 70.63
Total financial liabilitics - - 1,156.35

The management assessed thal the fair valuc of cash and cash cquivalents, other bank balances. trade reccivables. security deposits. margin money deposits. unbilled rescnue, retention money, trade and other payables and other current
financial asscts and liabilities approximale their carrying amounts largely due to the short-term maturitics of these instruments

Inierest ralcs on non-current borrowings (borrowings from banks) are cquivalent to the market ralc Such borrowings arc at Moating rates which are resel at short intenals Accordingly. the carrving value of such berrowings
approximalcs fair valuc

Fair valuation of non-current financial asscis and liabilitics has been disclosed Lo be same as carmying valuc as there is no significant difference beiween carrying value and fair value

The company has not donc any hedging transactions during the year

B} Mcasurement of fair values

There have been no transfers among level 1 and level 2 duning the current ycar.
C) Financial risk management

Risk management framework

The Company's financial liabilitics compnse borrowings, retention money, trade and other payables The main purpose of these financial liabilitics is Lo (inance the Company s opcralions and to provide guarantecs to support its
operations The Company 's principal financial asscts include sccurity deposils. trade receivables. cash and cash cquisalents and other financial asscls that derive dircctly from its operations

The Company is exposed Lo market risk, credut risk and liquidity risk The Company s oversces the of these nisks. The Company's management resicws and agrees policics for managing cach of these risks.
which are summarized below

i. Markel risk
Market risk is the risk that the changes in market prices such as forcign exchange rates and intercst rates. that will afTect the Company ‘s expense or the value of its holdings of financial instrumenls The objective of markel risk
within bl while oplimi the retumn

management 15 (o manage and control market nsk

a. Interest rate risk

Interest rate sensitivity

Interest rate nsk 1s the risk that the fair value or future cash Mows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes i market nterest rates The Company's exposure Lo the nish of changes 1n market interest rates relates
primarily lo the Company s borrow ings obligations with Nloaling intercs( rates

The Company exaluates the inicrest raies in the market on regular basis 1o explore the ophien of refinancing of the borrowngs of the Company  Moreon er. majority of the Company's borrow ings are primanly linked to floating interest
rates. thereby resulung in the adjustments ol its borrowing costs in line with the market interest
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C) Financial risk management (continued)

Exposure lo intcrest rate risk

The following table demonstrates the sensilivity to a reasonably possible change in inlcrest rates on Lhat portion of loans and borrowings afected. With all other variables held canstant, the Company's profit before tax is afTected

through the impact on floating ratc borrowings. as follons

Particulars

Increase/ decrease in basis points  Effeet on profit (loss)

31 March 2024
Term loans from banks and financial institulions
Term loans from banks and financial institutions

31 March 2023
Term loans from banks and financial institutions
Term loans from banks and {inancial institlions

before tay
100bps 799
-100bps (7.99
50bps +353)
-50bps 4353

The assumed moycment in basis points for the interest ratc sensiuvity analysis is based on the currently obscrvable market cnvironmen. showing a signilicantly higher volatility than in prior ycars

b. Currency risk

Currency risk for the Company is the risk that the futurc cash outflows on account of payables for managemeni [ees and other expenditure will fuctuate because of changes in forcign exchange rates The Company is exposed 1o the
cflects of fluctuation in the prevailing forcign currency exchange rates on its [inancial position and cash flows Exposure arises primarily due 10 exch e between the currency and other currencics. The
Management chaluates foreign exchange rate exposure arising from foreign currency transactions on periodic basis and ollows appropriate risk management policics

Exposure to currency risk
The Company's exposure to forcign currency risk alt the end of the reporting year are as follows:

31 March 2024

Amount in foreign currency (in Amount in INR

millions)

367

Amount in forcign currency (in Amount in INR

milliomns)

Currency
Financial liabilitics
Trade pavables usD
31 March 2023

Currency
Financial liabilitics
Trade pavables usD

Scnsitivity analysis

A y possible hening (wecak

16 00

) ol the Indian Rupec against foreign currency at ycar end would hase aflecled the measurement of financial instruments denominaled in foreign currency and afTecled equily and profil or

loss by the amounts shown below This analysis assumes that all other variables. in particular interest rates, remain constant and 1gnores any impact of forecast sales and purchascs

(Profit) / loss Equity, net of tax
(increasc) / decrease
Effeet in INR Strenuthening Weabiening Strengthening Weakening
31 March 2024
1% movement
UsD 0.04 [LIKIC2) 0.04 (0.0H
0.04 (0.04) 0.4 0.04)
(Profit) / loss Equity, net of tax
(increase) / decrease
Effect in INR Strenpthening Weakening Strengthening Weankiening
31 March 2023
1% movement
0.16 (0.16) 0.16 (1.16)
0,16 ({16} .16 (16
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29

Financial instruments — Fair valucs and risk management (continucd)

ii. Credit risk
Credil risk is the risk thal counlerparty will not meet its obligations under a financial instrument or customer contract lcading Lo a financial loss, The Company is cxposed lo credit risk (rom its operating aclivitics (primarily trade
receivables and contract asscts) and (rom its financing activitics. including deposits with banks, sccurity deposits and other financial instruments

Trade receivables
The Company has cstablished a credit policy under which cach new customer is analysed individually for creditworthiness before entering into contract. Credit limits arc cstablished [or cach customer. reviewed regularly and any
sales exceeding thosc limits require approval from the appropriale authority. There arc no significant concentrations of credit risk within the Company

Financial instruments and cash deposits

Credil risk from balances with banks arc managed by the Company s management in accordance with the Company s policy. Investments of surplus funds are made only with approved counterparties, Counterparty credit limils are
reviewed by the management on an annual basis The limits arc sct lo minimizc the ion of risks and t} mitigate [inancial loss through counlerparty s polential failure lo make payments

The Company ‘s maximum cxposure Lo credit risk for the components of the Balance Sheet 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2023 is the carrying amounts giscn in Notc 9(d)

The Company considers Lhat ils cash and cash cquivalents have low credit risk

The provision matrix used for delermining loss allowance on trade reccivables as at 31 March 2024 is 0-180 days: 9.09%, 180-365 days: 30 71%, 366-547 days: 4d.96%, 548-729 days: 67 98%. >= 730 davs: 100%

Reconciliation of [oss allowance provision

For the year ended For the year ended
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Trade reccivables
Opening balance (353) (023)
Changes in loss allowances (5.55) (328)
Closing balancc (9.08) (3.53)

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated with ils financial liabilitics that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset The Company s approach lo
managing liquidity is Lo cnsurc. as [ar as possible. that it will have sufficient liquidity (o mect its liabilitics when they arc duc. under both normal and stressed conditions. withoul incurring unacceplable losscs or rishing damage to

Company 's reputation

Management monitors rolling forccasts of the Company s liquidily posilion and cash and cash cquivalents on the basis of expecled cash flows lo ensurc il has sulicient cash 1o mecl operational needs Such forecasting lakes into
consideration thc Company s debl refinancing plans. undrawn commitied borrowing facilitics and covenant compliance

Ultimatc responsibility for liquidity risk management rests wilh the board of directors. which has established an appropriaic liquidity risk management framework for the management of the Company 's short-Lerm. medium term and

long-tcrm funding and liquidity management requircments

The table below summariscs the mawnty profile of the Company 's [inancial liabilitics based on contractual undiscountcd payments:

Contractual cash flows

31 March 2024 Carrying amount Total 1 yvear =2 vears 2-5 vears More than S vears

Non - derivative financial liabilitics

Non-current borrowings B74 63 896.20 - 61.89 37111 463 20

Currenl borrowings 2662 2662 26.62 - - -

Current Trade pavables 5184 5184 5184 .

Othcr current financial liabilitics 24 88 2488 2488 - . -

977.97 999.54 103.34 61.89 371.11 463.20
Contractual cash flows

31 March 2023 Careving amount Total 01 yesr 1-2 vears 2.5 veurs More than 5 vears

Non-derivative financial linbilitics

Non-current borrowings 94247 974 70 - 267 30237 669 66

Current borrowings 4593 4326 4326 B - -

Trade payables 9732 9732 9732 - e -

Other current financtal liabilitics 70.63 28 06 2806 . - -
1,156.35 1.143.34 168.64 2.67 302.37 669.66
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30 Busi Combinations under control

The Company has as a part of its management decision acquired "Awadh 5 Restaurant" from its subsidiary "Duet India Hotels (Bangalore) Private Limited” on 13 March 2024 for a purchase
consideration of INR 13.38 As the transaction is a business combination under common control, the acquisition has been accounted under the 'pooling of interests' method in accordance with
Appendix C of Ind AS 103 'Business Combinations' and current year figures have been included with effect from 10 August 2023 (date of establishment of common control). All assets and
liabilities including the reserves of the fellow subsidiary company have been presented in these financial statements from the 10 August 2023 as summarized below:

As at
10 August 2023

Current assets

Trade receivables 409

Cash and cash equivalents 039

Other current assets 010
TOTAL ASSETS 4.58
Equity

Other equity 544
Total equity 5.44
Current liabilities

Trade payables

- total outstanding dues of micro enterprises and small enterprises; and -

- total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro enterprises and small enterprises (10.29)

Other financial liabilities (0.07)

Provisions .17
Total liabilities (10.53)
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES (5.09)
Nat liabilities assumed (A) (0.51)
Purchase consideration transferred (B) 13.38
Adjustment for working capital (C) (0.25)
Excess transferred to other equity D = (A) - (B) - (C)* (13.64)
The excess of purchase consideration paid over the net assets acquired is adjusted as 'Amal ion adj deficit account' in Other Equity as at 10 August 2023 in these financial

statements

*Amount payable is INR 12.71 (Net of Adjustment for Cash and Cash equivalents amounting to INR 0 67)

& Co
oy \C
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a1

32

33

Capital management

The Company s policy is to maintair a strong capital base so as lo maintain inveslor. creditor and market confidence and to sustain future development of the business

The Board of Dircelors of the Holding company secks Lo mainiain a balance between the higher retums that might be possible with higher levels of borrowing and the ady antages and security afforded by a sound capital position. The
Company monitors capilal using loan o valuc (LTV) method 1o casurc that the loan to value docs not increasc besond 65% on any given reporting datc at Group level. Loan includes the current and non-current borrowings and
Value refers 1o the markel capilalisation of the Group

The Company is not subject lo cxternally imposed capilal requircments

As a part of its capital management policy. the Company did not have any defaults in the repayment of loans and inierest for the current ycar. The loan covenants have been tesled for Duct India Hotels (Hyderabad) Private Limited.

Duct India Hotels (Chennai) Private Limited. Duct India Hotels (Jaipur) Private Limiled. Duet India Holels (Punc) Private Limited. Duel India Holels (Chcnnai OMR) Private Limited. Duct India Hotels (Ahmedabad) Private
Limited on consolidated basis and there have been no loan cosenant defaults during the current ycar and there has been no intimation from the bank for recalling any loan facility

Disclosures under Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises Development Act, 2006 (MSMED) Asat As at
31 March 2024 31 March 2023

Ducs to micro, small and medium suppliers

The amounts remaining unpaid to micro and small supplicrs as at the end of the ycar:

Principal 119 247
Interest = :

The amount of interest paid by the buyer as per the Micro Small and Medium Enterprises Deelopment Act. 2006 (MSMED Act. 2006)
The amounts of the payments made to micro and small supplicrs bey ond the appointed day during each accounling year -

The amount of intcrest duc and payable for the ycar of delay in making payment (which have been paid bul beyond the
appointed day during the s ear) bul without adding the intcrest specified under MSMED Act. 2006

The amount of inlerest accrucd and remaining unpaid al the end of cach accounting year - .

The amount of further interest remaining due and payable cven in the succceding vears. until such date when the interest ducs
as aboye arc actually paid (o the small cnterprisc for the purpose of disatlowance as a deduclible expenditure under Scetion - -
23 of the MSMED Act 2006 ’

The management has identificd cnlerprises which have provided goods and services to the Company and which qualify under the definition of micro and small cnterpriscs. as defined under Micro. Small and Medium Enlerprises
Development Act, 2006 (MSMED). Accordingly. the disclosure in respect of the amounts payable (o such cntcrprises as at 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2023 has been made in the financial slalements bascd on information
reecived and available with the Company

Ratios as required by Schedule TIT to the Companies Act, 2013:

Ratin In timexy/% Numerator Denominator 31 March 2024 31 March 2023 |Inercase/ (decrease} | Reason for Varianee

Vanance 15 primarily on account of
(a) Current Ralio In limes Tolal Current Assets Total Current Liabilitics 158 093 70% | decrease in currend liobilitics as
compared to Lhe previous ycar,

Since the vanance w less than 25%
(b) Debt-Equily Ratio In limes Total Borrowings Total Equity 0.52 063 -18%|thcre is no requirement Lo disclose
the reason

Eamings before finance

costs. deprociation and Finance costs paid + Principal Since the variance is lesy than 25%
(c) Debt Senvice Coverage Ratio | In times o8t SoP s rcpayments of long term 1.30 151 -14%| there is no requircment to disclose
|amortisation and tax and o
borrowings the reason

other adjustments
Variance is primarily on account of]
impairment loss recognised in the
of profil and loss in the
previous ycar.

Since the variance is less than 25%
(c) Inventory Turnover Ratio In times Cosl of goods sold Axcrage Imentony 12.54 1140 10%| there is no requircment to disclose
the reason.

Since the vanance is less than 23%
In limes Rexcnuc [rom operalions Avcrage Trade Receiyables 10.04 917 9% |thes is no requirement to disclose
the reason

WVarianee it primanly on account of |
Increase in purchascs and other
expanses and decrease in avcrage
trade pay ablc

Variance 15 primarily on account of
improvement in average ncl
working capital as compared 1o the
e s \ car,

Vanance is primanly on account of
umpairmeni loss recognised in the
statement of profil and loss in the
o aous ycar

(d) Return on Equity Ratio In% Prolit/{Loss) for the year | Average Tolal Equity 2.50% -1336% 119%

(c) Trade Reccivables tumoser
ratio

() Trade payables tumover ratio  |In times Purchases + Other cxpenses | Avcrage Trade Payables 441 6.64 -34%

232%

o
w
O

(g) Net capital turnoser ratio In times Rescnue from operations | Average working capital 20.56 (1

(h) Net profit rauio In% Profit/(Loss) for the scar  [Reycnuc [rom operations 7.46% ~40.75% 118%|

‘aranee is primarils on account of
impravement in camings before
3.24% 4 04% 30% | finanoe costs. depreciation and

and lax ass p:
1o the pres tous ycar

Eamings before interest and | Capilal Employed : Tangible Net

i In %
(i) Return on Capntal cmploy cd n % koS Worth + Total Borrowing

The Company has nol prescated the follow ing ratios duc to the reasons given below:
(a) Return on investments Since the Company invests surplus temporan funds in short-lerm bank deposits and the income gencrated from it is nsignificant to tolal rexenuc
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New standards and interpretati not yet
Ministry of corporate afTairs (" MCA™) nolifies new standard or d 10 the existing dards under C ics (Indian A Standards) Ruics as issucd from time o ime For the vear ended 31 March 2024, MCA
has nol notilied any ncw | or d to the existing 1 licable lo thc Company

Other statutory information

(i) The Company docs nol have any Benanu property. where any proceeding has been initiated or pending against the Company for holding any Benami property under the Benami Transactions (Prohibiion) Act. 1988 and rules
made thereunder

(ii) The Company has not becn declared as wilful defaulter by any bank or financial Institution or other lender

(1) The Company has nol cnicred into any transaclions with companies struck off under scclion 248 of the Companies Act. 2013 or scction 560 of Companies Act. 1956

(iv) The Company does not have any transaction which is not recorded in the books of accounts that has been surrendered or disclosed as 1ncome during the ycer in the lax asscssments under the Income Tax Act. 1961 (such as.
scarch or survey or any other relevant provisions of the Income Tax Act. 1961

(1) There are no charges or salisfaction yet lo be registered with ROC beyond the siatulons period
(v1) There arc no funds which hasc been advanced or loaned or invested (cither from borrowed funds or share premium or any other sources or kind of funds) by the Company to or in any other persons or enlities, including forcign

enlities “Intermediaries”). with the understanding. whether recorded in wniting ar otherwise. that the Intermediary shall dircetly or indircetly lend or invest in other persons or cntitics identificd in amy manner whatsocver ("Ultimale
Beneficiaries™) by or on behalf of the Company or provide any guarantee. sceurity or the hke to or on behall of the Ultimate Beneficiarics

(+1i) There are no funds which have been recenned by the Company from any persons or cntitics. including forcign cntitics (~Funding Parties™). with the understanding, whether recorded in wiiting or otherwise. that the Company
shall directly or indircclly., lend or imvest in other persons or cntities identificd in any manner wh ("Ultimate Beneficiaries™) by or on behall of the Funding Party or provide any guarantce. sccunty or the like from or on
behalf of the Ultimate Bencficianes

(viu) The Company and the group s nol a CIC as per the provistons of the Corc Imestment Companies (Reserve Bank) Directions. 2016

(ix) The Company has nol traded or invested in Crypto currency or Virtual Currency during the financial y car

(x) The compam has complicd with the number of laycrs prescribed under section 2(87) of the Companics Act. 2013 read with Companics (Restnction on number of Layers) Rules. 2017

(xt) The Company did not obtaincd borrowings from bank and financial institution during the y car. further. the Company has used the borrowings from bank and financial wnstitution for the specilic purposc [or which 1L was taken in
the carlicr years

(i) The Company has ol cnicred into any scheme of ar which has an ing impacl on current or previous financial year

(xii) The Company has not revalued its property . plant and cquipment or intangible assets or both during current or previous year

(xn) The Company 15 not required 1o submit quarterly returns or statemcents with banks during the current or prey ious ycar

(xv) The ttle deeds of immon able property disclosed wn the financial statements arc held in the name of the Compamy Howeser. original ttle deeds are under licn with lender

(xv1) The Company has not granted am loans or advances in the naturc of loans Lo promoters. dircctars. KMPs and the rclated partics (as defined under Companucs Act. 2013) cither severally or yoinily with any other person Lhat are
repay able on demand or without speeify ing any terms or period of repayment. except for loans granied as disclosed below

Current period Previous period
Type of borrower Amount % ol Total Amount Outstanding % of Total
Outstanding {Nominal amount)
(Naminal amount)
Promators
Direclors - . =
KMPs . - - .
Related Partics 37018 1055 37125 100%]
Total 3718 100% 371.25 100%

Codc on social sccurity

The Code on Social Security. 2020 (“the Code”) relaling to employee benefits received Presidential assent on 28 Seplember 2020 The Ministry of Labour and Employment has rclcased draft rules for the Code on 13 November 2020
and inviled ions from the stakchol The date of impl ion of the Code is vt lo be notificd by the Government and when implemented will impact the contributions by the Company towards bencfits such as Provident
Fund. Gratuity otc The Company will assess the impact of the Code and give cifect in the financial statements when the Code and Rules thercunder are notificd

In the carlier years. the Company had cntered into an agreement with a thurd party to scll its investment n the cquity sharcs of Duct JKM India Hotels {(Indore) Privatc Limited and had received an advance consideration of INR
42.57 The buyer had failed to honor the terms of Lhe payment and the Company had terminaled the sale agreement and had forfeited the advance considerauon reccived The buyer had objected the lermination and had served a legal
notice lo the Company for which the Company also provided its legal responsc explaining the reasons for the aforesaid action Pending resolution of dispule. the advance consideralion was nol taken Lo the income stat¢ment and was
discloscd under other current Liabilities till 31 March 2023. During the year, Company has cntered into sctilement agreement with the party and refunded the adyance

One of the subsidiary companies (Duct JKM India Hotels (Indore) Private Limited or ~Duct Indore™) owned a land parccl and a partially constructed building (together known as “Property ™) for Lhe purposc of operating a planncd
hotet project thal was in abey ance since many years The Company approved the sale of the Property 1o a third party by Duct Indore for a consideration lower than camving value of the Property 1n the books of accounts of Duct
Indore: Further. the Company and JKM Hotels Private Limited ("JKM™) in their meeting on July 6. 2023 have agreed the lorms of distribution amongst themschves and the Company has subsequently sold its share in Duct Indore 1o
a thurd party 1n accordance with such terms of distnbution agreed with JKM resulting in an impasrment loss of Rs 193 22 recorded by the Company. in the previous year ended 31 March 2023, towards 1ts investment m Duet Indore
Duning the current year ended 31 March 2024. the Company has scttled Uns cntire transaction through salc of insestment approved by the sharcholders vide their mecting dated 9 August 2023

The noles (rom Notc | Lo Note 38 form an ntcgral part of thesc financial statements
As per our report of cven date altached
For BSR& Co.LLP For and on behall of Board of Directors of

Chartered Acconntants Duet India Hotels (Punc) Prixate Limited
ICAI Firm Registration No : 101248W/W-100022
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